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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome to this

          3  hearing of the Public Safety Committee. Today we're

          4  going to be discussing measures taken by the Police

          5  Department and the banking industry to curb the

          6  rides in the number of bank robberies in New York

          7  City.

          8                 First I'd like to welcome and thank

          9  Commissioner Kelly for your testimony here today.

         10  Obviously by your presence that signals the

         11  importance of this issue, we know you're taking

         12  great strides already, and we look forward to

         13  hearing the results of your actions.

         14                 To date there have been over 300 bank

         15  robberies in the City, compared to the same time

         16  more than last year, more than double -- I'm sorry.

         17  There have been more than 300 bank robberies in the

         18  City today. More than double the amount compared to

         19  the same time last year.

         20                 The majority of these robberies, 256

         21  of them, have been committed by note passers and did

         22  not reveal a weapon. This has been going on, by the

         23  way, while overall major felony crime, according to

         24  the Mayor's Management Report, is down by six

         25  percent.
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          2                 The Police Department has cited

          3  several possible reasons for this increase, such as

          4  the lack of bulletproof-resistant barriers, the

          5  extension of daily and weekend banking hours, the

          6  decrease in security guards, lax surveillance

          7  systems inside the banks.

          8                 One of the reasons they have not

          9  stressed, but I will, is the strain put on an

         10  already overburdened police force by its

         11  counter-terrorism duties.

         12                 As some of you realize, we had

         13  approximately 41,000 police officers in 2001. We are

         14  now down to under 37,000. The Commission is doing a

         15  great job doing more with less, but there's only so

         16  much more you can do. That is yet another reason for

         17  this phenomenon.

         18                 My understanding is that the Police

         19  Department and the banking industry has formulated a

         20  list of bank security best practices that we'll hear

         21  about today. We will also hear about the

         22  Department's more recent efforts such as bank

         23  investigations that are subject to COMSTAT-type

         24  scrutiny and increase surveillance in and around

         25  banks.
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          2                 After talking to many people about

          3  this situation, I also intend to introduce a

          4  resolution to call upon the State to create a bank

          5  robbery statute which would create a minimum

          6  standard penalty for this crime.

          7                 Bank robbers would be subject to a

          8  class C felony. Right now your average note-passing

          9  robbery is a class D felony which does not carry

         10  mandatory state jail time.

         11                 We're going to be asking Albany to

         12  increase that to a C felony at a minimum. If you use

         13  a gun it would still be a B or a threatened use of a

         14  gun, but a C felony for all bank robbers which would

         15  take these people off the street for a much longer

         16  period of time.

         17                 Additionally, we will be hearing

         18  testimony on Oliver Koppell's bill, which you'll be

         19  speaking about in a moment, Intro. 442, which will

         20  mandate bulletproof glass and other security inside

         21  bank buildings.

         22                 We look forward to your testimony,

         23  but first let me call upon the sponsor of that bill,

         24  Oliver Koppell, to make a brief opening statement.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chairman. And thank you very much for holding

          3  this hearing on by bill, Intro. 442.

          4                 I might comment that it's well known

          5  that the infamous bank robber Willie Sutton, when

          6  asked why does he rob banks, answered, "because

          7  that's where the money is." And, unfortunately, too

          8  many New Yorkers have apparently quote learned that

          9  lesson, and the money of course is in the bank but

         10  it shouldn't be available to those who come with

         11  weapons, or without weapons, to try and take it.

         12                 And the fact that there are over 300

         13  bank robberies this year, as I understand it more

         14  than double the number in the last year, indicate

         15  that something must be done.

         16                 Heaven forbid that one of these

         17  robberies should result in death or serious injury.

         18  I don't believe they have. At least not this year.

         19  But the moment if that were to happen, we know the

         20  outcry would demand more action, not that the Police

         21  Commissioner hasn't tried, and I want to compliment

         22  the Police Commissioner, I know that he's made a

         23  significant effort in this regard, and made many

         24  recommendations to the banks, but the fact of the

         25  Police Commissioner trying is not enough. The bank,
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          2  quite frankly, and this is not all banks, and I know

          3  the Commissioner may be talking about this, but some

          4  banks seem to just simply ignore these robberies and

          5  regard them as a cost of doing business. Well, in

          6  dollars maybe, but not in terms of the potential

          7  loss of life, or health.

          8                 And I want you to know, Mr. Chairman,

          9  and why I sponsor this bill, because the friend of a

         10  staff member of mine, who was a teller at a bank

         11  where there was a robbery was so traumatized by the

         12  robbery, even though there was no shots fired, that

         13  she said something must be done, call it to the

         14  attention to this person on my staff, and that's why

         15  we introduced the bill.

         16                 And what the bill does is to simply

         17  require that banks installed these bandit barriers,

         18  similar to this, so that the tellers are protected

         19  against those who might use weapons.

         20                 It also creates an atmosphere of

         21  greater safety in the banks. Do I believe that my

         22  bill 442 is the only answer? No. But I think it's

         23  part of the answer and I look forward to hearing

         24  from the Police Commissioner whether he feels it's

         25  part of the answer.
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          2                 There are other things that can be

          3  done, and I look forward to the hearing, Mr.

          4  Chairman, exploring other options that the bank may

          5  have, and, again, I want to thank you very sincerely

          6  for holding this hearing. I think that the Counsel

          7  can play an important role in dealing with this

          8  important and urgent problem.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         10  Council member, also for your work in this area.

         11                 I'd like to introduce all the members

         12  of the Public Safety Committee, Council Member Phil

         13  Reed, and Council Member Helen Foster. Thank you

         14  both for being here.

         15                 Commissioner, I'd also like to thank

         16  you for working with us last month to pass the

         17  strongest stadium violence bill in the entire

         18  country, which looks like we did in the knick of

         19  time. So, thank you for getting that done quickly.

         20  We'll get the Mayor to sign it pretty soon and we'll

         21  be ready when they come to town.

         22                 Commissioner, back to the bank

         23  robberies. The floor is yours.

         24                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you

         25  very much, Chairman. I'm joined by the Chief of
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          2  Department, Chief Joseph Esposito; the Chief of

          3  Detectives, Chief George Brown; and our Commanding

          4  Officer of our Special Investigations Division,

          5  Inspector Jeramiah Quinlann, and under Inspector

          6  Quinlan is our Major Face Squad (phonetic), that

          7  does a significant number of bank robbery

          8  investigations.

          9                 As you know, and as you've said,

         10  we've experienced a tremendous increase in bank

         11  robberies this year, over 200 percent at one point.

         12  Most of them are by unarmed individuals who present

         13  tellers with notes demanding money. Despite the

         14  dramatic increase in bank robberies, the overall

         15  robbery rate in the City continued to decline this

         16  year as does crime generally. Down six percent on

         17  top of last year's five percent decline. Bank

         18  robbery is an anomaly.

         19                 Based on debriefings of bank robbery

         20  suspects, we learned that it has become common

         21  knowledge inside Rikers Island and on the street

         22  that banks have become easier to rob. Everyone from

         23  career criminals to vagrance was trying it.

         24                 One robber who wanted to convey that

         25  he carried the deadly virus anthrax wrote instead
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          2  that "I have Amtraks," as in the railroad.

          3                 While the problem has abated

          4  significantly over the last two months, it is still

          5  too early to declare victory. At best, we can say

          6  that the combined efforts of the Police Department

          7  and some, but not all of the banks, may be

          8  responsible for these recent encouraging signs.

          9                 But as I said, it is still too early

         10  to tell. Furthermore, some banks still have a long

         11  way to go because of their continued resistance to

         12  the use of bandit barriers and other proven

         13  deterrence to bank robberies.

         14                 Let me emphasize from the outset that

         15  we do not consider these bandit barriers in

         16  themselves to be cure-alls by any means. Most bank

         17  branches already have them, or some variation of

         18  them, and banks that have bandit barriers still get

         19  robbed, we know that. Nonetheless, we do consider

         20  them to be central ingredients in a comprehensive

         21  package of best practices that has proven to deter

         22  robberies in those banks that have adopted and

         23  adhered to all of them.

         24                 The absence of barriers also deprives

         25  bank tellers of the opportunity to safely walk away
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          2  from unarmed robbers.

          3                 The absence of barriers also exposes

          4  them to even greater danger in the presence of armed

          5  robbery. Our strong preference is that all banks in

          6  New York City, without exception, employ these

          7  barriers.

          8                 Earlier this year, in examining bank

          9  robbery patterns, we noted that some banks were very

         10  successful in deterring bank robberies all together,

         11  while others made themselves more inviting targets.

         12                 A number of banks had never been

         13  robbed. These banks had two things in common: One,

         14  they adhered to each and every recommendation by the

         15  Police Department concerning prevention.

         16                 Two, their executive leadership was

         17  civic minded.

         18                 Amalgamated Bank is a model on both

         19  counts. For it's faithful adherence to best

         20  practices and the personal commitment to crime

         21  prevention of its CEO.

         22                 Among the best practices of the banks

         23  that were never or rarely robbed were: One, the

         24  universal use of bandit barriers. Second, the use of

         25  security personnel or greeters to intercept
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          2  suspicious persons before they enter the tellers

          3  line, the proper placement of functioning and highly

          4  visible surveillance equipment, and four, the use of

          5  dye packs which spray brightly-colored die on the

          6  money and the bank robber, making apprehension all

          7  that much easier.

          8                 These and other best practices, when

          9  applied together and consistently appear to be very

         10  effective.

         11                 We have provided the Committee with a

         12  complete list of these best practices. Using the

         13  practices of the banks with the best record of

         14  deterring robberies as a model, we urge the rest of

         15  the industry to adopt these best practices as well.

         16                 In February, Mayor Bloomberg wrote

         17  the executives of major banks, urging their

         18  cooperation in our effort, specifically asking them

         19  to upgrade surveillance equipment.  Bank cameras

         20  were often poorly positioned. DCR tapes were missing

         21  or had deteriorated. I met personally with various

         22  bank executives in April to discuss our findings,

         23  and to urge their cooperation in adopting best

         24  practices.

         25                 The Chief of Detectives, Chief George
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          2  Brown, gave the same executives a detailed briefing

          3  on the surge in bank robbery. On May 5th, the New

          4  York Bankers' Association, at the Department's

          5  urging, officially adopted our best practices and

          6  disseminated them among its members.

          7                 The Police Department also publicly

          8  recognized those banks whose use of best practices

          9  had already resulted in a remarkable record of

         10  deterring robberies.

         11                 More recently I joined with the State

         12  Banking Superintendent, Diana Taylor, in writing to

         13  bank executives to repeat our concern about the rash

         14  in robberies, to urge in addition to the adoption of

         15  best practices that they consider a policy of

         16  allowing their tellers protected by bandit barriers

         17  to walk away from their stations, without complying

         18  to the demands for money from unarmed note-passers.

         19                 This policy has proven effective in

         20  short circuiting robbery attempts, and has been

         21  adopted successfully by major banks.

         22                 In the intervening months we have

         23  continued to urge banks that have not adopted best

         24  practices to do so.

         25                 The Police Department has also
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          2  diverted resources dedicated to counter-terrorism to

          3  address the bank robbery problem.

          4                 Alternating teams of officers in

          5  civilian attire and in uniform were posted at banks,

          6  special response plans by our patrol bureau have

          7  been tailored to specific locations. So, for

          8  example, if a branch near a subway station is

          9  robbed, officers respond directly to that subway

         10  line, in addition to streets and highways in the

         11  vicinity of the bank. Some excellent work by both

         12  our patrol force and our Detective Division has

         13  resulted in the apprehension of bank robbers,

         14  including individuals responsible for multiple

         15  robberies.

         16                 Our arrest of bank robbers are up 103

         17  percent this year, compared to the same period last

         18  year. Every branch that is robbed is subjected to a

         19  survey by the Department to determine whether they

         20  are in compliance with the best practices that their

         21  own association has endorsed.

         22                 We offer security surveys for banks,

         23  we offer training for their tellers and security

         24  personnel, and we stand ready to assist any bank

         25  that wants our help in instituting best practices at
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          2  any of their branches in the five boroughs.

          3                 Some of the banks with poor or

          4  spotted adherence to best practices also rank high

          5  in the ratio of robberies per branch.

          6                 Concerned about this Banco Popular

          7  worked aggressively to adopt best practices, and in

          8  a matter of months significantly improved its

          9  standing in the ratio of robberies per branch, and

         10  we commend them for it.

         11                 Naturally, our preference is that all

         12  banks do what Banco Popular did; that is,

         13  voluntarily comply with best practices, including

         14  the installation of bandit barriers in each and

         15  every branch. But if voluntary compliance is

         16  continued to be resisted, then I would favor

         17  legislation like Intro. Number 442 to mandate it.

         18  The Department would only recommend the addition of

         19  some clarifying enforcement provisions and technical

         20  language that I've included in my written statement.

         21                 It is important also to note that

         22  some banks seem to think there is a competitive

         23  advantage to be gained in presenting a more

         24  "friendly" environment, devoid of barriers and

         25  other evidence of security measures. It would be
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          2  regrettable indeed if civic-minded banks that

          3  adopted best practices fell victim to competitors

          4  who refused to adopt them.

          5                 I want to thank the Council for

          6  concerns on a matter of such importance of the

          7  safety of the public, and certainly I'll take any

          8  questions that you might have.

          9                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         11  Commissioner.

         12                 We also welcome Council Members

         13  Yassky and Council Member Quinn. Thank you.

         14                 Commissioner, the bank robberies

         15  themselves, do they form any type of pattern with

         16  regard to the area that they occurred in, the type

         17  of robbery, the type of individual committing it;

         18  what have you found?

         19                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we

         20  have more robberies in Manhattan than any other

         21  borough. As far as the individuals who do it, the

         22  vast majority have a criminal record, I would say

         23  also a significant number, perhaps majority, have an

         24  addiction, some problem of some sort. But we see the

         25  universe of people attempting bank robberies
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          2  expanding.

          3                 Indeed we had someone in a homeless

          4  shelter who were doing several robberies, and, in

          5  fact, were able to track them down because he had

          6  the dye on his person when he went back to the

          7  homeless shelter.

          8                 So, Manhattan is the borough that

          9  experienced most bank robberies, and, again, we're

         10  talking about criminals that have a record and many

         11  who have an addiction problem.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I believe I read

         13  in the papers that certain individuals were actually

         14  doing more of the bank robberies than others,

         15  certain -- one person had done numerous bank

         16  robbers; is that true?

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: We had one

         18  individual, his name was Raymond Masse, he was

         19  arrested for 44 robberies, or 44 attempts, robberies

         20  and attempts. And he started using a weapon and then

         21  he converted to just using notes, and Inspector

         22  Quinlan's people were able to get pictures, and,

         23  again, I can tell you that some of the pictures and

         24  the cameras just have not been properly maintained

         25  and sometimes the pictures have been fuzzy, but as
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          2  he went on we were able to get better pictures from

          3  digital cameras and took those pictures and went to

          4  adjourning jurisdictions, were able to get

          5  information on this individual from Nassau County

          6  probation officers.

          7                 So, it was dogged work by our

          8  investigators, but here's an individual that was

          9  arrested for 44 robberies or attempted robberies.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You stated that

         11  you prefer voluntary compliance, which we all would,

         12  I don't think we like to pass laws unless they're

         13  necessary. You're the expert, how long would you

         14  recommend that we wait to see if th3se banks

         15  voluntarily comply?

         16                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

         17  unfortunately, there are some banks who simply are

         18  not going to go along with the barriers, it doesn't

         19  conform to their business plan, their business

         20  model, and I would suggest not too long, quite

         21  frankly. We have seen a turn-about by many of the

         22  banks. I think the issue has now gotten to the CEO

         23  level, paying I think now the required attention to

         24  it, but some banks simply have taken a position that

         25  they are not going to put these barriers in. And,
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          2  again, as I said in my prepared remarks, we think

          3  they're important because it gives a level of safety

          4  to the tellers, it allows them to walk away and it

          5  prevents vaultering over the counter, which clearly

          6  can happen.

          7                 We've had three patterns where we

          8  have had vaulters, we've arrested the perpetrators

          9  on all three of those patterns, but that's another

         10  concern about individuals who can get over a

         11  counter.

         12                 So, to answer your question, I don't

         13  think we should wait too long to move forward with

         14  the legislation, as long as there are some banks

         15  that simply will refuse to go forward and adopt what

         16  I think are only common sense policies.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So you believe

         18  you've reached that point with some banks already

         19  then, that they are just not going to take any

         20  further actions or take the actions you recommend.

         21                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, I

         22  think they have staked out a position that this is

         23  contrary to their business plan.

         24                 What I would say, their approach is a

         25  more customer-friendly approach and that they have,
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          2  they're open seven days a week, some of these banks,

          3  and they have hours seven to seven or even later,

          4  which we certainly support, we think that's good.

          5  And we don't believe the barriers are in

          6  contravention of these customer-friendly policies,

          7  but apparently some executives do, and we think it's

          8  fine for them to adopt all of the recommendations,

          9  and I must tell you that they are doing many of the

         10  recommendations, these banks who refuse to put the

         11  barriers in, but we think that's the key element,

         12  but it's also a signal to would-be robbers that this

         13  bank is concerned about security, that it provides a

         14  secure environment.

         15                 I think that that is, again, it's not

         16  a panacea. It's not the solution to bank robberies,

         17  we're still going to have them, but I think it sends

         18  a clear message that they're serious about security.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I don't

         20  disagree, but let me play devil's advocate. My

         21  staff, who has done a great job, Ted Baecher and

         22  Michele Kalafer, and I, have met with New York State

         23  Bankers Association, and he'll be testifying next,

         24  and many of the CEOs you spoke about, and, again, I

         25  don't disagree with you, but it's how do you respond
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          2  to what they say, they say that 90 percent of the

          3  banks that have been robbed do have these bandit

          4  barriers already. Do you have a position on that?

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes,

          6  that's true. I mean, there are other aspects, if you

          7  look at all 14 of the recommendations we think we'd

          8  like to see greeters, we want cameras that work, we

          9  want digital cameras, we want signs up that say that

         10  there are cameras, and we want cameras that are

         11  focused directly at the positions in front of the

         12  tellers. As I say, this is not a panacea. You have

         13  to look at the totality of the recommendations.

         14                 They do have barriers, but I will

         15  also say that there were variations of them. Some

         16  are not high enough, some you can vault over. There

         17  are all sorts of different configurations. We think,

         18  at least the legislation proposed by Councilman

         19  Koppell, we think that the recommendations that we

         20  made, we need some rule-making authority perhaps

         21  with the Police Department to make certain that

         22  they're of adequate height, that they're

         23  bullet-resistant, they're made out of the proper

         24  material, because there are barriers and there are

         25  barriers, and people will say they have them but
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          2  they're not adequate, in our judgment, in many

          3  cases.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, that's a

          5  very good point. If we're going to mandate barriers

          6  with the law. I'm not saying we're going to, but

          7  it's something we're obviously considering, what

          8  else would you recommend we mandate?

          9                 For example, you mention that some

         10  banks have cameras that are not sufficient, not up

         11  to the job, would you recommend us mandating

         12  cameras? I don't think you want to mandate a

         13  greeter, but is there anything that you would also

         14  want us to put in this bill?

         15                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think

         16  it's difficult to get into the weeds through

         17  legislation. We believe that these 14 best practices

         18  are sound. We think there is a good faith effort on

         19  the part of the industry to adopt them, and you

         20  know, some of them are just perhaps too detailed to

         21  put into legislation. You have lots of different

         22  branches, lots of different configurations in the

         23  City, so it's difficult to say specifically, you

         24  know, additional aspects of legislation that are

         25  needed now.
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          2                 I think Michael Smith who is here

          3  with the Bankers Association, he's done a good job

          4  in disseminating these practices and I think people

          5  are, you know, most of the members of his

          6  association are moving towards adoption.

          7                 I see the barriers as the most

          8  glaring exception to that, as far as the adoption by

          9  most of the members that are concerned.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Again, you

         11  mentioned the video cameras and that concerns us and

         12  if we were going to add something, that would be

         13  something that I would consider.

         14                 I looked on your website just an hour

         15  ago, and I noticed that you had pictures of many

         16  people who had robbed banks, and some who have been

         17  apprehended, probably because of the pictures. Many

         18  you can barely make out because of the quality of

         19  the camera, which is in the banks, and we've all

         20  seen stories about people, we've seen them on TV

         21  where you can't make them out at all.

         22                 In your investigation, what is the

         23  status of cameras at banks?

         24                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we

         25  know that some of the major banks are now moving
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          2  towards digital cameras, and that's what we want to

          3  see, obviously the quality is much better. We need a

          4  means of retrieving that information quickly. I was

          5  appalled just a year and a half ago just to see the

          6  quality pictures that a major bank produced. It was

          7  a lack of attention to it, the feeling hadn't been

          8  changed.

          9                 We have to move, I think the industry

         10  has to move towards digital cameras.

         11                 We all know that the price of cameras

         12  could come down, the quality of pictures is just

         13  really phenomenal these days, the technology is

         14  there, and again there was a general move in this

         15  direction.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You just said

         17  that they are moving towards digital; is it quick

         18  enough to your liking? Should it be quicker?

         19                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, we

         20  have to work with the banks and we understand

         21  there's a cost involved here, so we'd like it

         22  yesterday. But we see movement in the right

         23  direction.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I will be

         25  introducing a resolution in two weeks, calling on
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          2  Albany to increase the level of crime here for a

          3  bank robbery from a D felony to a C felony. What's

          4  your position on that?

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I support

          6  it whole-heartedly. We appreciate that. I think it

          7  makes sense to do that. We also need the courts to

          8  impose the penalties. We had a bizarre situation

          9  that turned out not to be a robbery, it was actually

         10  a grand larceny. You may have heard about it, it was

         11  reported in the press. We had a 12-year-old boy go

         12  into a bank and the teller was part of the scheme

         13  and he had given $30,000 as a, you know, supposedly

         14  robbery, he brings a note in.

         15                 Well, it turns out, and this is just

         16  a couple of months ago, he was put up to it by his

         17  mother who knew the teller, so we were able to

         18  recover some of the money, we got the information,

         19  we arrested the teller, arrested the boy's mother,

         20  and the teller got probation, and the mother got

         21  four months for endangering the welfare of a child.

         22  But the environment in the bank, I think at least at

         23  that time, conducive to these types of strange

         24  schemes that put forward, but, again, in this

         25  instance the court certainly didn't certainly impose
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          2  the penalty that I think was appropriate.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I agree. Let me

          4  turn to some of my Council members, beginning with

          5  Council Member Reed.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chair.

          8                 Good morning, Commissioner.

          9                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Good

         10  morning.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You may not be

         12  the best person to answer this question and perhaps

         13  we have to hear from the banks, but aren't there

         14  significant insurance premiums that these banks face

         15  at some point if they're not responding to the

         16  suggestions that you make?

         17                 I mean, I can't imagine that

         18  insurance companies want to continue to just pay out

         19  for the loss.

         20                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, I

         21  think probably the banks are better positioned to

         22  answer that question than I am. I just don't know.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: To what extent

         24  do you think that the economy and the fact that

         25  we've lost so many jobs here in New York plays a
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          2  part in the increase in these bank robberies?

          3                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I have

          4  never really been a supporter of that position. I

          5  haven't seen too many people commit crimes to put

          6  food on the table.

          7                 We know that in this instance I just

          8  spoke about that the mother of the boy and the

          9  teller both bought 60 inch televisions as a result

         10  of this little escapade. So, I don't know. I don't

         11  see it as the direct correlation between the economy

         12  and robbery.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, I would

         14  agree that greed and stupidity can be pretty good

         15  motivators for people, but you don't see any

         16  correlation between the number of enormous recession

         17  that we see here? Everybody is talking about in

         18  terms of vending, everything else that we see people

         19  doing is non-traditional, whether it's illegal or

         20  not seems to be reflected in the fact that people

         21  can't find employment, but you don't think that

         22  there's any correlation to that with this enormous

         23  rise in bank robberies?

         24                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, I

         25  don't.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you. Thank

          3  you, Mr. Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          5  Council Member.

          6                 Let me introduce Council Member Dilan

          7  first, and call upon Council Member Yassky.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you,

          9  Chair Vallone.

         10                 Good morning, Commissioner.

         11                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Good

         12  morning.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Before I ask

         14  my question, I would just say, I mean I, like

         15  yourself, have long resisted the notion that the

         16  only cause of crime is poverty and economic

         17  downturns, but I think you can dispute that but

         18  still say that it plays a role. I mean, I think it's

         19  hard to dispute that particularly property crimes do

         20  go up and down with economy. People are responsible

         21  for what they do, no question about it, and law

         22  enforcement, good times or bad, make an enormous

         23  difference, but I do think that it's at least a

         24  factor.

         25                 But be that as it may, my own
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          2  question is what I remember used to be the case at

          3  least that bank robberies have a very high closure

          4  rate or bank robbers are almost always apprehended;

          5  am I right about that? Or am I wrong? That's no

          6  longer true or maybe it was never true?

          7                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I would

          8  say maybe in a third to 50 percent of the cases,

          9  something like that, 30 to 50 percent, what do you

         10  think, Jerry?

         11                 A little higher.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, has that

         13  gone down, or not as far as you know? I recall

         14  being, the apprehension rate being high, seventies

         15  or eighties, but I may be wrong about that.

         16                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: We'll go

         17  along with that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I was just

         19  wondering if there's been some, you know, change in

         20  that number, that it's now an easier to get away

         21  with crime for some reason than it used to be.

         22                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I don't

         23  think it's easier to get away. It takes a lot of

         24  effort on our part to -- we want them not to happen

         25  at all. That's the purpose of this hearing and this
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          2  presentation. We know people who go in and attempt

          3  to do it, but in terms of the apprehension, you

          4  know, Inspector Quinlan is saying, all right, so

          5  let's say it is 60 to 70 percent, it takes a lot of

          6  effort though.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: How many

          8  injuries have there been, or there were, I think 200

          9  bank robberies, 300?

         10                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY:

         11  Three-hundred and thirty-five attempts or robberies

         12  or attempted robberies this year.

         13                 This calendar year, minimal number of

         14  injuries.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: So, I mean

         16  this is, the public safety issue here is a financial

         17  one, more than a kind of personal health and injury

         18  one or do you feel it's both?

         19                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think,

         20  you know, you walk into a bank and commit a robbery,

         21  it's difficult to predict all the consequences of

         22  what you do.

         23                 Yes, we've had note passers in about

         24  over two-thirds, perhaps 75 percent of these cases,

         25  but in the other case you have people walking in
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          2  with weapons or what appears to be weapons or what

          3  appears to be explosive devices, so the potential

          4  for physical injury is significant. Someone trying

          5  to escape, you know, all of those things obviously

          6  raise the potential for injury on the part of

          7  employees or customs.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Is it the

          9  smart thing to do for the teller to just hand over

         10  whatever money is there in a note-passing case?

         11                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It depends

         12  on the situation, we never want to put a teller at

         13  risk, but our position is, and some of the major

         14  banks have adopted this position, have a walk-away

         15  policy, you have to be behind one of these barriers

         16  before you do that. If someone comes in and appears

         17  not to be armed as the hands or perhaps in view and

         18  giving the teller a note and the teller is behind

         19  this barrier, and we believe it's reasonable to at

         20  least give the teller the option to walk away, and

         21  many of the major banks have adopted that policy,

         22  indeed one of the major banks here has now more

         23  attempts than actual robberies as a result of the

         24  adoption of that policy.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Have you done
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          2  a more formal communication of best practices, best

          3  security practices to the bank?

          4                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, we

          5  just spoke about it. I spoke about it in my prepared

          6  remarks, and I think you'll hear from Michael Smith.

          7                 It's also the best practices are

          8  appended to the statement, that has been distributed

          9  to the banks, through the Bankers Association. We

         10  met with them, we went through these practices, so,

         11  yes, they've been presented to the bank.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: At 300 some

         13  odd this year, is that -- how many perpetrators do

         14  you think that is? I mean, is this primarily a crime

         15  that somebody commits ten or 15 times?

         16                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: You mean

         17  recidivists?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes.

         19                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, it's

         20  difficult to get that number.

         21                 We know, as I just said, we had one

         22  individual who did it 44 times, but some of them, a

         23  smaller, relatively smaller number have two

         24  perpetrators, some have three.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Is it possible
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          2  that the increase is due to a few people who have

          3  been very, very active, and have more than a number

          4  of crimes.

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we

          6  think it's more than a few people, but there are

          7  certainly people who go back and do it again and

          8  again. We have patterns. We develop patterns and we

          9  identify individuals ideally by pictures, clear

         10  pictures, sometimes you can't see clearly through

         11  the pictures, but based on their practices we

         12  identify patterns and look for them.

         13                 So, yes, I still there are a

         14  significant number of people, but are there people

         15  doing multiple robberies and multiple attempted

         16  robberies? Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Just one more

         18  question is, what would we say to somebody who would

         19  say, you know, banks are sophisticated entities,

         20  they know, they're as adept at assessing risk as

         21  anybody, you know, we should leave it to them to

         22  protect themselves, they know what they're doing.

         23                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I

         24  disagree. I think they have a civic responsibility

         25  to see to it that they have actual a legal
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          2  responsibility under the federal law, they have to

          3  provide certain security elements, under state law

          4  they have to provide certain elements of security,

          5  but I think we have seen -- this rash of robberies

          6  is, in my opinion, larger a result of lack of focus

          7  security by the industry, and I think we have gotten

          8  their attention and many of the banks have gotten on

          9  board, and it would be interesting to hear what the

         10  industry says, but I think if they're candid,

         11  they'll admit that they got their eye off the ball

         12  for a period of time and now we believe most of them

         13  are back on track.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         17                 Commissioner, what mechanism is in

         18  place right now to continue your oversight over the

         19  bank's voluntary compliance?

         20                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we

         21  now go to every bank robbery and we do an in-depth

         22  survey. We've been doing that since May.

         23                 We have our current prevention

         24  officers in our precincts that are available to go

         25  and help them do the proper training and do surveys,
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          2  but we're not engaged in the oversight business,

          3  that's not what the Police Department does. We're

          4  going to robberies and determining whether or not

          5  the best practices were in place there, and

          6  communicating that and working with the banks

          7  themselves, but we're not monitoring per se the

          8  industry.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So there is no

         10  formal meeting set up in the future with any banking

         11  groups to monitor the implementation of your

         12  recommendations?

         13                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we

         14  certainly meet with Mr. Smith, and the association

         15  or any bank that wants to meet with us and we may in

         16  fact do that, to kind of have an assessment of where

         17  we are, probably not a bad idea to do that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Just for

         19  scheduling purposes, we have one or two more Council

         20  members to ask questions and after that we will be

         21  taking a short five to ten-minute break. We'll be

         22  coming back with the Bankers Association, who I'm

         23  sure will be responding to much of this. I just

         24  wanted to give you that for scheduling purposes, and

         25  now go to Council Member Koppell.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chairman. Thank you, again, for holding the

          4  hearing, and thank you, Commissioner for your

          5  testimony and your support of the legislation with

          6  some changes, and I want to refer to one of your

          7  recommendations.

          8                 Because we noticed, or I noticed,

          9  that at least one bank has a practice where the

         10  tellers have no cash, you go to the teller and you

         11  work out what money you want to take with you, and

         12  you go to an ATM machine and withdraw the money. I

         13  thought that system might not require the bandit

         14  barriers, so I put an exception in the bill,

         15  recognizing that we would discuss that before the

         16  bill passed, because I know we would discuss it with

         17  the Committee, and I know you recommend that we take

         18  that out, that exception, and I was wondering

         19  whether you have any experience with that kind of

         20  system and whether there have been robberies, where

         21  the teller himself or herself has no cash but rather

         22  authorizes by pushing some buttons, cash to be

         23  dispensed elsewhere.

         24                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I'm not

         25  certain if it was clear as to whether or not it was
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          2  the only way of getting cash in the bank. I think

          3  that may have been our issue with it, if that was

          4  the only way you did it. So, I think it's just kind

          5  of a technical matter.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I don't want

          7  to put you on the spot, but I would be interested,

          8  because there is at least one bank that does it that

          9  way. If they have not suffered robberies, and you

         10  could perhaps tell us that, then maybe the exception

         11  makes sense. On the other hand, if they suffered

         12  robberies, even though they have that system, then

         13  it wouldn't make sense.

         14                 One other issue that's not in the

         15  bill, but you made reference to it, and that is the

         16  issue of greeters or guards. I remember when I was

         17  much younger, banks generally had a guard. I think

         18  some of them were armed, I'm sure some of them were

         19  armed, and some of them perhaps were not armed but

         20  they were uniformed.

         21                 When I discussed the issue of whether

         22  a guard should be on the premises of banks with the

         23  banks or with representatives of banks, they

         24  suggested that one of the reasons they took armed

         25  guards out of the banks is they were concerned that
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          2  during robberies there could be gun play in the

          3  lobby, and that may be more dangerous than not

          4  having an armed guard, and perhaps there would be

          5  more robberies, but less possibility of serious

          6  harm.

          7                 What is your view about the posting

          8  of uniformed either armed or unarmed guards in bank

          9  branches?

         10                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we

         11  haven't recommended armed guards.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You have not?

         13                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: We have

         14  not, no. We're talking about greeters. We know from

         15  our debriefings and studying the issue, we believe

         16  looking individuals in the eye as they come in is a

         17  major deterrent. Many of the pictures that you see,

         18  if you look at the films, people are coming in

         19  wearing sunglasses, have a hat on, they don't want

         20  to be seen, they're trying to kind of get in without

         21  anybody observing them directly. We think that

         22  looking head on at the individual coming in is a

         23  major, a major deterrent. So, we're not advocating

         24  armed guards, we're advocating greeters.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. I

          3  would like to welcome and call upon Council Member

          4  Monserrate.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chair.

          7                 Good morning, Commissioner. Chief.

          8                 I have this very simple question, in

          9  the same vain that Council Member Koppell was

         10  talking about armed guards, have we explored at all

         11  the use of off-duty police personnel? It's been a

         12  successful program that's been used in a lot of

         13  other arenas, for the use of banks in New York.

         14                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we

         15  do have the Paid Detail Program. Only two banks --

         16  only one bank, actually, on two occasions, has used

         17  it for an opening, and as you know, Councilman, that

         18  is a voluntary program, the officers themselves have

         19  to agree to do it, we don't preclude them or prevent

         20  them from doing it, it hasn't been asked for by the

         21  banks, although they've asked us about information,

         22  about the Paid Detail Program. To the best of my

         23  knowledge, they have not asked for it at the banks,

         24  and, quite frankly, I don't know what the level of

         25  compliance would be.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You may have

          3  mentioned this, Commissioner, but we're winding up

          4  now. In sum, since you've taken these action with

          5  the banks, what have you seen -- what is the present

          6  situation with regard to bank robbers?

          7                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

          8  they're going down. We've had fewer bank robberies

          9  in August, this August, and last August we've had

         10  fewer than September, than we had last September,

         11  and as a matter of fact, we have one ongoing right

         12  now on 124th Street, a note-passer, but this month

         13  it's down as well. So, as I said in my prepared

         14  remarks, the media trend in the last couple of

         15  months is in the right direction, and I attribute

         16  that to banks starting to adhere to these best

         17  practices, but, you know, the jury is still out.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, you

         19  probably need to get to bank robbery investigation

         20  right now and let us know if they're complying. So,

         21  we'll let you go, and thank you, again, for coming

         22  down here and sharing with us.

         23                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Okay,

         24  thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And we'll take a
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          2  five-, ten-minute break.

          3                 (Recess taken.)

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome. Please

          5  identify yourselves, and you may begin when you're

          6  ready.

          7                 MR. SMITH: Good morning, Mr.

          8  Chairman. I am Michael Smith, President of the New

          9  York Bankers Association. I am accompanied by

         10  Roberta Kotkin, our General Counsel, and Vicki

         11  Contino, our Legislative Counsel, with Wilson

         12  Helsner.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome to all

         14  three of you. You may begin.

         15                 MR. SMITH: Good morning, Mr.

         16  Chairman, members of the Committee. The New York

         17  Bankers Association is comprised of independent

         18  community, regional and money center commercial

         19  banks throughout New York State with approximately

         20  220,000 employees. The safety of customers and

         21  employees of banks throughout the City of New York

         22  is a top priority of our industry, therefore, we

         23  welcome this hearing.

         24                 Today banking is contributing a

         25  much-needed boost to the City and to the State's
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          2  economy through new a new entrance in the

          3  marketplace, and the attendant building of many new

          4  branches in neighborhoods throughout the City. The

          5  many legislative reforms over the last 20 years have

          6  made this growth possible, and with them have

          7  increased competition, innovation and consumer

          8  benefits.

          9                 It is therefore unfortunate that

         10  these positive developments are being overshadowed

         11  by the recent increase in bank robberies.

         12                 However, we welcome this opportunity

         13  to discuss banking's response. When Police

         14  Commissioner Kelly announced in January of this year

         15  that we were seeing a dramatic increase in robberies

         16  in the City, we immediately responded. We pledged

         17  our cooperation, we formed a special task force of

         18  security officers, augmenting committees and

         19  liaisons that had already been in existence. We

         20  urged all of our City members to join the NYPD Apple

         21  system. This system allows for immediate

         22  communication between law enforcement and banks when

         23  a crime has occurred.

         24                 We are pleased that all our City

         25  members, at least to the best of our knowledge, are

                                                            43

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  now on the Apple System, and many of our members

          3  have worked with Apple on training and enhanced

          4  security at their branches.

          5                 We met on a number of occasions with

          6  Commissioner Kelly, as he noted, and his staff, and

          7  shared a list of security practices that are widely

          8  used in the industry.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: If I could

         10  interrupt for one second so we're aware, when you

         11  say all of your members, could you describe for us

         12  what that means? Does that mean every bank in New

         13  York City?

         14                 MR. SMITH: It's not every bank in New

         15  York City. We attached to the testimony a list of

         16  our members there, predominantly the commercial

         17  banks in the City of New York, with a vast majority

         18  of branches in the City, but it does include

         19  community banks, for example, Amalgamated Bank,

         20  cited by the Commissioner today, the CEO is our

         21  Chairman this year of the Association. So, we do

         22  have banks that have one or two branches and some

         23  have three or four hundred. So, throughout all the

         24  boroughs.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So, in general
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          2  then, and let's pick Manhattan, how many banks would

          3  you be representing, how many would you not?

          4                 MR. SMITH: Approximately 25 or 30

          5  banks with approximately 1,500 or over branches.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Out of how many?

          7                 MR. SMITH: Probably 1,800 branches in

          8  the City.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: When we

         10  discussed this list of best practices, we also

         11  stressed that this was not exclusive as

         12  technological advances, as well as more complete

         13  determination of the profile of the robberies, and

         14  the perpetrators may yield additional or alternative

         15  practices over time, and that's becoming more the

         16  case.

         17                 In May we announced our commitment to

         18  work with NYPD and shared with our membership a list

         19  of practices and programs we already employ, or plan

         20  to implement in the months ahead.

         21                 We are pleased that these efforts,

         22  combined with the fine work of the NYPD has resulted

         23  in a significant decrease in a number of robberies

         24  for the past ten weeks, below the numbers of last

         25  year.
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          2                 While we hope that this trend

          3  continues, we in fact intend to strengthen our

          4  efforts. We have just endorsed a partnership with

          5  Crime Stoppers in the City, and are working on a

          6  program with a goal to elevate technological

          7  capabilities to appoint that we will be able to

          8  transmit pictures across the Apple System

          9  instantaneously. Right now that is through e-mail

         10  communication. We can talk about that a little bit

         11  later.

         12                 This effort is particularly important

         13  with a type of note-passer robbery that we have

         14  identified in our research, which is what we pointed

         15  out early on in our meetings. We need to have

         16  research. It is on the agenda of our task force in

         17  the coming weeks, and we plan to work again with the

         18  police and the City on this initiative dealing with

         19  note-passing variety of crime.

         20                 We have tracked the robberies over

         21  the past year, and they are displayed in the graph,

         22  Exhibit B. We also surveyed Exhibit C, the member

         23  banks of our task force, as to the type of robberies

         24  and the use of security practices in place. You will

         25  see that the predominant type of robbery is
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          2  note-passing unarmed robbery. You will also note

          3  that close to 90 percent of the robberies occurred

          4  at sites that had bullet-proof glass, partitions

          5  similar to those in the bill, which are commonly

          6  called bandit barriers.

          7                 We strongly believe that the best

          8  deterrence of this type of robbery, which is the

          9  majority, vast majority of robbery, the increase

         10  earlier this year, is vigilant surveillance, that's

         11  through cameras, effective communication, that is

         12  not only to NYPD by the branch or bank in question,

         13  but throughout the entire branch system of all the

         14  banks, that would be the first time we can

         15  interconnect all the branches, since the robbers

         16  from our information are often striking multiple

         17  sites of different banks, they're not just going to

         18  one institution, they're going to multiple

         19  institutions, and it could be within the same period

         20  of time, so therefore communications are

         21  extraordinarily important.

         22                 And we need to reaffirm and

         23  strengthen the current robbery statutes.

         24                 We therefore commend the Chairman and

         25  support any resolution, or his resolution, calling
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          2  for a specific bank robbery statute in New York.

          3                 One thing that we have been saying

          4  throughout this period, bank robbery is a serious

          5  crime. It causes trauma for everyone in the branch,

          6  it is an attack against commerce and finance, and

          7  the citizens in the neighborhood, including seniors

          8  who rely on their branches.

          9                 Five states have recognized this fact

         10  and passed tough new laws that identify bank robbery

         11  as a specific crime for these laws, do not

         12  distinguish between armed and unarmed robbery.

         13  Several additional states are considering such

         14  legislation right now.

         15                 We would urge that you not mandate

         16  any specific security requirement, such as that

         17  contained in introduction bill 442. We believe that

         18  the industry should have the flexibility to adopt

         19  the systems and equipment that it feels will best

         20  secure its facilities and protect its customers and

         21  employees.

         22                 In most cases law enforcement in the

         23  industry are in full agreement on these best

         24  practices as the Commissioner pointed out, where

         25  there are differences.
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          2                 As an association we have urged that

          3  the parties, the individual institutions and law

          4  enforcement meet to discuss new techniques. One of

          5  the new techniques that we're looking towards as an

          6  industry group now is this communication system, and

          7  we're quite excited about going down the road.

          8                 As to bandit barriers, there has been

          9  no evidence of deterrence in this particular case,

         10  and mandates will deflect resources away from more

         11  effective approaches.

         12                 We asked the ADA, the Trade

         13  Association for banks across the country, to submit

         14  a statement, Exhibit D, as to their opinion on this

         15  piece of legislation. The ADA as a national group

         16  favors preventative measures that are varied,

         17  depending on the specific characteristics of each

         18  bank.

         19                 We believe the banking industry's

         20  partnership with law enforcement is working. We are

         21  beginning to see the positive results of this

         22  effort, and we believe this effort should be

         23  expanded.

         24                 We would urge that you would defer

         25  any mandates as to one size fits all security
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          2  requirements, except adopted a very strong measure

          3  regarding that bank robbery is a serious crime,

          4  armed or unarmed, and that there will be serious

          5  consequences for those who attempt this crime.

          6                 Be assured that we will continue to

          7  work cooperatively with Commissioner Kelly, the

          8  NYPD, who we plan to meet again very soon with him

          9  as our task force group, the City of New York, you,

         10  Mr. Chairman, and the members of this Committee, and

         11  with other legislators and regulators, whether they

         12  be state or federal, to ensure that this initial

         13  success has a long-term result.

         14                 We plan to continue to be responsible

         15  and responsive corporate citizens in the City of New

         16  York, and we will continue to make safety and

         17  security of our customers and our employees our top

         18  priority.

         19                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. Will

         21  anyone else be speaking?

         22                 Okay, let me start right off with

         23  what Commissioner Kelly charged, and I'd like your

         24  response. He obviously said that some banks were

         25  doing very well, some were moving slowly and some
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          2  were not moving at all, and that actually might need

          3  to be taken if there isn't a voluntary compliance;

          4  how do you respond to that?

          5                 MR. SMITH: When this increase in bank

          6  robberies first occurred, first announced publicly

          7  in January, we did immediately respond within weeks,

          8  calling up NYPD, putting together a task force.

          9  Individual banks under the federal law have their

         10  own bank security programs, they do have committees

         11  and have had liaisons, basically ad hoc, for many

         12  years, with law enforcement. This increase, which we

         13  recognize is dramatic, needed a special response, so

         14  we brought together our security officers, those

         15  institutions throughout the City in all the boroughs

         16  to meet with NYPD to assess a cost and the response,

         17  and went back and surveyed our members, for example,

         18  to find out exactly what was going on in terms of

         19  each of their branches as to those security

         20  procedures they were employing today, what they

         21  might want to adapt to their own situation, their

         22  own business operation, and also to assess what

         23  types of crimes we're dealing with here, and what

         24  came out of this, and the Commissioner cited several

         25  banks that have responded, new techniques, but what
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          2  came out of this was that we were dealing primarily,

          3  not just alone by itself, but primarily with

          4  note-passing on a variety of perpetrators going in

          5  and moving from branch to branch throughout the City

          6  and that required a special response.

          7                 Our feeling was, number one, we had

          8  to go on the Apple System throughout the entire

          9  system of banks, and we endorsed that, that's in our

         10  best practices. We said that for those -- obviously

         11  each bank should choose its best security because

         12  it's protection not only for its employees but for

         13  its customers, first order of business and that they

         14  make those decisions, but here are a list of

         15  practices, if they're not using them, they might not

         16  want to look at, and then we're looking at the

         17  digital camera situation, they are in transition as

         18  to digital cameras, some of the largest

         19  institutions, I believe at least one of them will be

         20  on, fully on by the end of the year. They're all

         21  moving to digital. Digital will give not only a

         22  clear picture, as the Commissioner has noted, but

         23  also allows for that important electronic

         24  telecommunication system that we're talking about.

         25  This is developmental, there's only one or two other
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          2  areas in the country that are looking at this kind

          3  of a system, but it's particularly effective

          4  against, we believe, this type of note-passing

          5  crimes.

          6                 So, we feel that the banks have

          7  responded collectively. It took time to assess the

          8  problem. Obviously we were in a very serious

          9  situation. We're not saying in any way that the

         10  situation, while the numbers have gone down, it's

         11  still a serious problem, and we continue to work

         12  with law enforcement. We hope that there will be

         13  opportunity and a chance to adopt and adapt to these

         14  situations as we go forward. We are deeply concerned

         15  about specific mandates, as I stated because, for

         16  example, in this particular crime, bandit barriers

         17  and the note-passing variety, bandit barriers have

         18  been present by our surveys in over 90 percent of

         19  the situations.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's close to

         21  90 percent --

         22                 MR. SMITH: In the task force members

         23  of our group, it's not all the crimes, it's about 70

         24  percent of the robberies, but 90 percent of the

         25  robberies at our institutions task force members
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          2  occurred at bandit barrier facilities. Again, we

          3  believe that that is because of the nature of this

          4  crime.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, let me

          6  start with, why do you think this increase occurred

          7  in bank robberies, in note passers specifically?

          8                 MR. SMITH: We have not specifically

          9  -- we have tried to stay away from being

         10  criminologists, or because we're not in that

         11  business, I believe you may have someone testifying

         12  a little later.

         13                 We do know, though, that it was being

         14  perpetrated I know in some cases, I know in some

         15  cases publicly reported in the papers that I think

         16  one individual had robbed some 44, over 40 banks,

         17  another 25 or whatever, and this was a phenomena

         18  that was relatively new, and we have not attributed

         19  any specific reason for it, we leave that to law

         20  enforcement and to others, criminologists.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, you said

         22  that 90 percent happen despite the bandit barriers.

         23                 Were there other characteristics that

         24  you noticed of the banks that were hit more often

         25  than other banks, or did some have certain security
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          2  precautions that others didn't take? What did your

          3  investigation reveal?

          4                 MR. SMITH: Some banks obviously have

          5  vast branch networks throughout the City in all five

          6  boroughs, in the hundreds. So therefore if you are

          7  looking at a chart of numbers, that institution

          8  would probably be victimized by these crimes more

          9  than those that have a smaller branch network.

         10                 There have been reports regarding the

         11  friendly new institutions that possibly do not have

         12  enough security. I know you're going to be hearing

         13  from one of those banks today in terms of their

         14  marketing and business plans. But our view all along

         15  has been even if you cannot see the security, it

         16  does not mean the security is not there. There is

         17  security there in terms of cameras. Greeters are on

         18  the rise in the institutions, in New York, to our

         19  knowledge, a lot of this is anecdotal, what we have

         20  given you today is everything that we have collected

         21  so far, but there are changes being made today, and

         22  the Commissioner even cited that in his testimony

         23  about some techniques that banks are employing

         24  today, which were not even discussed several months

         25  ago.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You mentioned

          3  video surveillance. What did your investigation

          4  reveal as to the state of video cameras in banks

          5  right now.

          6                 MR. SMITH: We have identified, and

          7  it's noted in our best practices, that the industry

          8  recognizes that digital cameras should be -- you

          9  know, we're going through an evolution and a process

         10  of change, and we're going to evolve as quickly as

         11  possible to digital cameras.

         12                 Obviously some institutions are

         13  moving more rapidly than others due to, we've got

         14  institutions that have two offices, and we have some

         15  that have hundreds of offices. They should be

         16  allowed the time to adjust, but we believe very

         17  strongly in digital cameras, we believe very

         18  strongly in the placement of those cameras in the

         19  proper positions, and it's our understanding, and

         20  we've encouraged this, that the banks consult with

         21  the NYPD on the positioning of those cameras.

         22                 These efforts are underway, and it is

         23  something that you're going to see, and we'd be more

         24  than happy to get back to the Committee as time goes

         25  by as to the number of banks and offices that are
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          2  converting to digital camera.

          3                 They have cameras today, but as was

          4  noted out, noted in earlier testimony, sometimes

          5  these pictures are not perfect for apprehension of

          6  the criminal. Secondly, the digital does allow for

          7  the communication, which is very important.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think I need

          9  an answer to what the Commissioner said, though.

         10                 Now, if he came in here and said that

         11  we work with the banks and all of them have made

         12  changes, some have bandit barriers, some don't, but

         13  the ones that don't have made adequate other

         14  changes, I'm happy, that would be one thing. He

         15  didn't say that. He said most have done a great job,

         16  some are slow, and there are some who are not making

         17  the sufficient changes and won't. Now we're stuck,

         18  what should we do about that. Do we need to mandate

         19  that these banks that won't make changes that he

         20  finds efficient do so, or is there some other action

         21  that you would recommend?

         22                 MR. SMITH: As I noted in the

         23  testimony, we do not -- we would oppose specific

         24  mandates. I do not know the specific institutions

         25  that the NYPD is working with. I know that some
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          2  names have come out publicly, but those specific

          3  conversations, I believe are confidential. As to

          4  what other individual banks have done, I believe you

          5  made the statement that some have made changes and

          6  adopted new practices, and that some others are in

          7  the process of doing that.

          8                 I would hope that as we've noted in

          9  the earlier testimony, in discussion that we first

         10  allow the institutions and the NYPD and the City to

         11  talk through these issues, for example, on the

         12  specific on the bandit barrier bill, that changes

         13  would only be mandated if there was overwhelming

         14  evidence that they would make a material change in

         15  the situation that we're dealing with today, and our

         16  information is that the bandit barriers are in place

         17  in a vast majority of the institutions, and, in

         18  fact, that heightened awareness, other procedures,

         19  surveillance, making it very clear in the public

         20  domain that this is a serious crime unarmed or

         21  armed, they cost tremendous trauma, to everyone in

         22  the branch and to the customers, that that would be

         23  that we take that approach. And I hope and urge that

         24  you would take that approach initially.

         25                 Before we move forward, I think that
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          2  the Commissioner was saying initially that that

          3  would be the approach, and have more open discussion

          4  to the extent possible. Obviously, we're dealing

          5  with security here, so, in some cases it may not be

          6  so open, but certainly you and the Committee and

          7  people in the City should be aware of what's going

          8  on. And as I said, we were going to be meeting with

          9  the Commissioner's Office shortly.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, you're

         11  absolutely right. We do need to take this more

         12  seriously, and I do appreciate your support of this

         13  soon to be introduced bill to create the crime of

         14  bank robbery on a state level. And I don't want you

         15  to misunderstand, from my reports, all of the work

         16  my staff and I have done prior to this, you're doing

         17  an excellent job working with the Police Department

         18  and implementing these changes, and in fact, bank

         19  robberies have fallen dramatically recently.

         20                 We are still stuck with the

         21  situation, though, there are a few problems, and you

         22  hate to legislate for the few, but that's what we're

         23  considering right now.

         24                 Let me move to Council Member

         25  Monserrate.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chair.

          4                 Good morning, Mr. Smith.

          5                 You're here to testify in essence in

          6  opposition to the barrier bandits, and I have some

          7  questions regarding that. I don't know myself if I

          8  would be necessarily in favor of this legislation at

          9  this point, but if we're not in favor of barrier

         10  bandits, then what I think I'd like to hear from

         11  you, either in testimony, or through some documents,

         12  is that you present an alternative to the barrier

         13  bandits, which I really, I haven't heard from your

         14  testimony. I've heard a range of issues that you've

         15  outlined, the Police Commissioner of the Police

         16  Department presented their best practices

         17  recommendation, all of which I think are pretty good

         18  right now, they're in the business of public safety

         19  and security, and I really haven't heard in your

         20  testimony a commitment to any of these things

         21  specifically.

         22                 MR. SMITH: Let me just say at the

         23  outset, Councilman, thank you. We're here also to

         24  say that we're absolutely committed to working with

         25  the City and law enforcement. That's our first
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          2  message, to provide security and to work with you,

          3  to deal with this problem.

          4                 Our position is that the best way,

          5  first of all, is to determine what is the cause, the

          6  extent of the crime, and how we can best adapt. The

          7  best practices are employed, endorsed by our

          8  association, are employed in most of our branches

          9  and most of the institutions, and there may be it's

         10  a laundry list and there may be some choices, and

         11  there may be choices to do other things that are not

         12  on this list. We would ask that we give the special

         13  task force in our group the time, and I think we're

         14  going in the right direction, we hope it continues,

         15  to not only look at this list but what new

         16  techniques could be used to deal with the

         17  note-passing variety of crime, one is this

         18  communication system technology surveillance

         19  cameras. We are strongly urging that -- and we are

         20  committed to doing this, by the way, and we as an

         21  industry are committed first and foremost as an

         22  industry to develop and work on this technology, for

         23  the interest of banking and its customers and

         24  employees.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: How long
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          2  has this task force been meeting now?

          3                 MR. SMITH: We reformed in the early,

          4  I would say around March, somewhere in that time

          5  frame, we met with the Commissioner and his staff,

          6  all the department heads shortly thereafter, and we

          7  had a press conference with the NYPD in May and we

          8  circulated these best practices, and as the

          9  Commissioner pointed out, some of the items were,

         10  some of our institutions changes some of their

         11  procedures. There was sharing of information, that

         12  was a big thing. This robberies are not occurring

         13  just at one institution, they're across multiple

         14  institutions, so there needed to be more

         15  communication as to what might work. The

         16  Commissioner has talked about one of those today

         17  that may have not been discussed even three months

         18  ago. So, we're tracking this, and the important

         19  element here is that this is being taken very

         20  seriously. We talk to the Commissioner's office

         21  almost on a weekly basis I would say.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So the

         23  task force has been in existence for about seven

         24  months, you said March?

         25                 MR. SMITH: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Roughly

          3  six, seven months. And you've been meeting with the

          4  Police Department, you have some recommendations,

          5  which is pretty much all you can do to the

          6  individual banks, and do you know how many

          7  percentage-wise of the member banks of your

          8  organization are complying with some of the best

          9  practices? Are they complying, are 80 percent of the

         10  banks complying with 50 percent of the

         11  recommendations, or 90 percent of the banks

         12  complying with 25 percent of the recommendations?

         13  That's really the answers that I think the Committee

         14  would like to hear.

         15                 MR. SMITH: They are complying with

         16  the vast majority of them.

         17                 Roberta has been working with the

         18  task force throughout this entire period, and I know

         19  she probably can speak to that. Would you say about

         20  the vast majority?

         21                 MS. KOTKIN: I would say that --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: You need

         23  to speak into the mic.

         24                 MS. KOTKIN: I would say that --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Even more
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          2  into the mic.

          3                 MS. KOTKIN: Complying with some of

          4  them, I would say that all of our banks are

          5  complying.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: All of the

          7  banks are complying with some of the --

          8                 MS. KOTKIN: Yes, I feel fairly

          9  confident in saying that.

         10                 And many banks are implementing many

         11  of these practices in the various combinations, but

         12  all of our banks are committed to the safety of

         13  their customers and are implementing best practices

         14  to some degree or another.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Right.

         16                 MR. SMITH: Well, the digital camera,

         17  for example, is in transition right now.

         18                 We've got one major institution

         19  that's going to be totally digital to our

         20  information by the end of the year.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: I think it

         22  would be helpful if this Committee had specific

         23  percentages as to compliance. Well, can't say

         24  compliance, but --

         25                 MR. SMITH: Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Working

          3  with respect to the best practices recommendations,

          4  and I think that would give us a better grasp of

          5  exactly who's trying to deal with this issue

          6  seriously and who's not.

          7                 I think the Chairman was very direct

          8  in his statement, we're dealing with some of the

          9  institutions who might not necessarily be

         10  cooperating with the public safety as well of the

         11  City.

         12                 MR. SMITH: We'll definitely do that.

         13                 I know that some in some instances

         14  it's by choice, it's they are doing other security

         15  measures as an alternative. It's not because --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: But even

         17  if they're doing the other security measures, if we

         18  know that and we understand it as opposed to bandit

         19  barriers, they're doing X, Y and Z, and then I think

         20  it would be easier for us to flesh through what's

         21  the best approach. Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's a very

         23  good point, Council member.

         24                 And you will be getting that to our

         25  Committee then?
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          2                 MR. SMITH: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Because that's

          4  what I alluded to, but I think Council Member

          5  Monserrate said it more clearly, if there's a bank

          6  that doesn't have bandit barriers, but is doing 99

          7  percent of the other things that the police require

          8  and doesn't have any bank robberies, then that might

          9  be fine for us. But if they're not doing any

         10  recommendations, that would be very important also,

         11  so if you could get us that information.

         12                 MR. SMITH: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You mentioned a

         14  time line regarding some of these improvements, such

         15  as digital cameras by the end of the year in one

         16  bank.

         17                 MR. SMITH: One that I'm aware of.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, we're very

         19  interested in the digital cameras, what would be the

         20  time line for the entire industry to convert?

         21                 MR. SMITH: I would say that right now

         22  that we are talking, what, approximately about a

         23  third of the branches.

         24                 MS. KOTKIN: Yes.

         25                 MR. SMITH: About a third of the
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          2  branches, I would hope. We would hope. This is part

          3  of our best practices in urging the industry to move

          4  on this. Certainly over the next year or so we will

          5  have -- it may not be complete, it's depending on

          6  the institution, but I believe the other very large

          7  branch networks in the City of New York are

          8  converting currently, and they've indicated to us

          9  that they're moving in that direction. So, I don't

         10  want to put an exact time frame on it, but they're

         11  moving very quickly.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The problem we

         13  keep running into is there's no enforcement

         14  mechanism at all. I mean, if they don't, what would

         15  your organization do?

         16                 MR. SMITH: Well, as the Commissioner

         17  pointed out, he has been working with the New York

         18  State Banking Department. I did send a letter out

         19  with the Commissioner, the superintendent, in the

         20  last couple of weeks, regarding the seriousness of

         21  this situation. We have met with the Banking

         22  Department. We would hope that over the next couple

         23  of months we'll have a clearer picture. This is

         24  something that we plan to respond, and just to the

         25  tracking and our task force is meeting within the
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          2  next week or two.

          3                 We would hope that the position of

          4  the Commissioner over this period of time would

          5  begin to move towards a program that would be

          6  established, an established program between law

          7  enforcement and the banking community in New York,

          8  not requiring specific mandates, and that we can

          9  work towards that goal.

         10                 We understand that it's going to have

         11  to be done fairly quickly. It's not going to be

         12  something that is just going to be put off, it just

         13  continues. We hope the trend, the trend, as we said,

         14  is moving in the right direction, we hope it can

         15  continue, and we hope it could avoid mandates, and I

         16  think our next step would be to meet with the

         17  Department again or the NYPD and see if we can't

         18  address the specific concerns which the Commissioner

         19  mentioned today.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I agree, I would

         21  hope it would not be put off. As you know, I believe

         22  it was 1992 when the Council passed the bill

         23  requiring video cameras at ATMs, which I believe

         24  also at that time, a little before our time, was

         25  over bank objections and I believe had a great
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          2  positive effect on the safety of the public when

          3  they used the ATMs, but we won't wait forever and we

          4  hope that you move quickly in improving the cameras

          5  at the bank.

          6                 Council Member Koppell.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,

          8  Chairman.

          9                 I'd like to call your attention, if

         10  you would, to your chart, which is attached to your

         11  testimony. If you look at the security task force

         12  survey results, your survey indicates total

         13  robberies of 205, and the Commissioner said that

         14  there have been 335; can you explain that

         15  discrepancy?

         16                 MR. SMITH: These are the banks that

         17  are on our task force. They only include how many

         18  representatives? Seventeen. Seventeen banks

         19  operating in the City.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, there's

         21  130 robberies that are not counted in this list?

         22                 MR. SMITH: These are robberies as

         23  defined by our group.

         24                 Roberta, do you want to comment on

         25  exactly what the robbery would be?
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          2                 MS. KOTKIN: Yes. These robberies

          3  represent 17 banks in the City. They do represent

          4  most of the larger institutions, commercial banking,

          5  they do not include any savings institutions in New

          6  York who are not our members, and it only goes

          7  through the beginning of September, as well.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But I think

          9  the 335 was also in this calendar year. My staff

         10  tells me that it was. But in any event, this doesn't

         11  include all the bank robberies. So, we don't know, I

         12  mean it's helpful but it may not be comprehensive.

         13                 The other thing is, and a particular

         14  concern to me, it shows that the number of armed

         15  robberies actually remained approximately -- well,

         16  remained exactly the same, 32 armed robberies, but

         17  we don't have, I don't think on this, unless I

         18  missed it, is how many of the armed robberies took

         19  place at banks with bandit barriers.

         20                 You correctly point out based on your

         21  statistics that the bandit barrier didn't seem to

         22  make -- well, 90 percent of the total robberies were

         23  at banks with bandit barriers, which might suggest

         24  that bandit barriers are a questionable utility.

         25                 But what about the armed robberies,
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          2  which in a sense the ones we're most concerned

          3  about; do you have any statistics on that?

          4                 MS. KOTKIN: I would have to go back.

          5  I think I have those statistics but they were not

          6  put together in that combination.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But do you

          8  know whether there were any of the armed robberies

          9  at the bandit barrier banks?

         10                 MS. KOTKIN: I believe that there

         11  absolutely were.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I would

         13  like to know how many, to know whether the bandit

         14  barriers deter the armed robberies. They may -- I

         15  don't know. I mean, that would be an interesting

         16  thing for me to know.

         17                 The other thing I wonder is, have you

         18  surveyed the employees of the bank to ask if they

         19  would feel better if they had the bandit barriers?

         20                 MR. SMITH: No.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Wouldn't that

         22  be something to know?

         23                 MR. SMITH: The bank would have to

         24  obviously make a decision. That would be by

         25  institution. We could inform them -- you know, we
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          2  could talk to our task force. We are meeting in a

          3  couple of weeks. No, we have not, and I'm not aware

          4  of that information, but we could get back to you

          5  whether there is information on that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I would

          7  be interested to know, because as I said, I got

          8  involved in this because one employee was very

          9  frightened, but as a general matter in thinking

         10  about it, the employees feel safer, they have to be

         11  there every day, from morning to night, and if they

         12  feel nervous every day from morning til night

         13  because they don't have a barrier, and every

         14  customer comes up to them, or maybe every customer

         15  who looks a little bit odd comes up to them and

         16  they're nervous, that's not a happy employment

         17  environment.  So, even if it just made them feel

         18  better, I might support it just for that reason

         19  alone.

         20                 But I would, you know, I'd be

         21  interested to know their reaction.

         22                 The other thing is, the banks,

         23  obviously, you endorse the idea as a general matter,

         24  it's part of best practices that you, yourself

         25  distributed. So, I guess I'm concerned or curious as
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          2  to why the banks oppose the legislation? I mean,

          3  they're not saying opposition that we're all going

          4  to do it anyway. I mean, that could be one response.

          5  We don't need the legislation because as an

          6  association and every bank is doing it. So, I assume

          7  some banks don't want to do it; is that right? They

          8  don't want to put them up.

          9                 MR. SMITH: There are institutions

         10  that are not employing bandit barriers.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And they

         12  don't want to.

         13                 MR. SMITH: And I believe that those

         14  institutions maybe are commenting on that today.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay.

         16                 MR. SMITH: The fact of the matter is,

         17  our view as a banking organization has been on this

         18  particular issue of security, is to allow

         19  flexibility and to not deter innovation, and that if

         20  we have to move in a certain direction as a

         21  comprehensive mandate, that it should be

         22  overwhelming evidence that that is going to be

         23  effective.

         24                 We, for example, strongly believe

         25  that technology will go a long way in dealing with
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          2  this note passing type of robbery, which is a

          3  phenomena. And that we need, I know that we've

          4  talked to NYPD about this, and the Commissioner

          5  about this, I've noticed some frustration about that

          6  this might take a little time, but we need to make

          7  sure that whatever we do is the right thing, in

          8  terms of the type of technology that it works within

          9  the NYPD technology system, and that the banks do

         10  have the sufficient amount of time to upgrade their

         11  current facilities.

         12                 It is not for want of security that

         13  they don't consider the security to be the top

         14  priority. There is not one institution or individual

         15  for an institution that doesn't hold this as a top

         16  priority.

         17                 There are institutions, though, that

         18  believe that other security in lieu of a bandit

         19  barrier is the proper way to go, and that falls

         20  within this context in our policy of not mandating.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, what

         22  concerns me is that it may be commercially more

         23  attractive not to have these, because they are a

         24  little off-putting, I'm sure, to some people. But I

         25  don't want to give someone a commercial advantage
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          2  who takes that advantage over a more responsible

          3  business, and this has been true in many areas that

          4  I've been concerned about.

          5                 I want to say, well, this bank can

          6  avoid this, because it makes people feel good, and

          7  therefore they get more customers, and another bank

          8  that's more responsible doesn't do that. I'd rather

          9  mandate an even playing field, I guess is what I'm

         10  saying, and that's what concerns me about the

         11  opposition to, if 90 percent of the banks already

         12  have it, I'm a little bit puzzled I guess why they

         13  wouldn't support everybody having it.

         14                 MR. SMITH: The policy of the

         15  Association is that we should not, and particularly

         16  right now, in New York banking is a vibrant

         17  business, very vibrant. It's in a growth pattern,

         18  especially in a retail side, in all the boroughs.

         19  Business practice, marketing, the ability to offer

         20  products, to make a bank designed for its own

         21  customer and employee use, we believe and hope would

         22  remain within the institution, and that they would

         23  have a choice if security is a number one priority,

         24  that they clearly are taking this into account and

         25  feel this is the right way to approach security, and
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          2  that unless there was overwhelming evidence, we

          3  would hope that working with you, the Committee,

          4  NYPD, that we cannot, we do not have to approach it

          5  in a mandate type of way. We believe that security

          6  is a multi-faceted, comprehensive issue, I think the

          7  Commissioner talked about that, and that the best

          8  way to approach it is for us to keep on working

          9  together cooperatively and not to divert resources.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Councilman, if I

         11  can interrupt one second, I was just informed that

         12  we need to be out of the room by 1:00, so you know

         13  as well as I do we have a long list of witnesses to

         14  testify, so if we could, we're going to go to Erik

         15  Dilan right after you finish up. Our next witness

         16  after this, though, will be Commerce Bank, which is

         17  a bank that does not have these barriers, but has

         18  employed many other different methods, so you'll be

         19  able to ask some questions of them.

         20                 So, please finish up and then we'll

         21  go to Dilan.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I will

         23  conclude. I just would say, as I said in my initial

         24  remarks, Mr. Smith, and I respect you work for

         25  people who you have to be responsive to, and I'm not
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          2  going to blame you, but I'm sure the airlines didn't

          3  want to search every person before they got on a

          4  plane, but unfortunately circumstances require that

          5  to be the current system.

          6                 I will tell you, and I hope it

          7  doesn't happen, I hope you're right, the first time

          8  there's a serious incident with an armed robbery in

          9  a bank without bandit barriers, you can be sure that

         10  bandit barriers will be mandated. I would like to

         11  avoid that. I think we're in a situation, an

         12  incredible situation, with over 300 bank robberies

         13  this year, and I know it's gotten better in the last

         14  ten weeks, I don't think that's enough of -- it's

         15  still, by the way, in the last ten weeks, if you

         16  count your thing, we'd still have over 200 bank

         17  robberies, based on the number of bank robberies in

         18  August and September, and that's unacceptable.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         20  Councilman.

         21                 Councilman Dilan.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 Mr. Smith, just interested, of the

         25  members that are members of your association, how
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          2  many of the banks currently use the bulletproof

          3  glass or bandit barriers?

          4                 MR. SMITH: I believe 90 percent of

          5  the branches have bandit barriers, some 90 percent.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: So, 90 percent

          7  --

          8                 MR. SMITH: Of our survey of our task

          9  force. That doesn't include all the banks and

         10  branches as we noted.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: According to

         12  your chart, you said that 205 of the robberies

         13  reported Citywide were from members of your

         14  organization?

         15                 MR. SMITH: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: That would

         17  constitute, I would imagine a large part of the

         18  robberies Citywide.

         19                 In your testimony you stated that you

         20  were opposed to this committee mandating this

         21  legislation. If the members of this Committee were

         22  to approve this legislation, what type of hardships

         23  do you believe those ten percent of your memberships

         24  would be forced to deal with?

         25                 MR. SMITH: Well, we were certainly
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          2  hoping you would not go in that direction, but that

          3  direction would be, it's not just you have to define

          4  what exactly a barrier is, where it's placed. It

          5  would require, it would appear it wouldn't just

          6  affect those who just don't have them, it would

          7  affect possibly those that do have them, but at the

          8  same time I would go back to saying very clearly

          9  that we do not believe that this -- to talk about

         10  opposition to a bill, we're here to support a

         11  comprehensive flexible approach, encouraging

         12  enhanced communication, working with law

         13  enforcement, working with you, and also doing

         14  things, as the Chairman has noted, regarding

         15  specific penalties. There's not a bank robbery

         16  statute in New York. We would hope that we not get

         17  into specific mandates, and not have to start

         18  defining what that means.

         19                 We would hope to see, we hope, and

         20  it's a hope, the number that are attached in the

         21  graph on the testimony that are not in our chart are

         22  NYPD numbers, and I know it's just ten weeks, we

         23  know that, we would hope that our efforts, as the

         24  Commissioner has pointed, taking the positive

         25  aspects of what he said about what institutions were
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          2  doing, we hope that this will prove to hopefully be

          3  the case going forward, and that we can avoid

          4  specific mandates, and I assume we'll be back

          5  reporting to the Committee and to the individuals on

          6  what's been discussed today, and hopefully this

          7  trend will continue.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: So more

          9  specifically, how much would it cost a bank that is

         10  not outfitted with the bulletproof glass to install

         11  it, roughly? I know it might vary from bank to bank,

         12  but do you have any rough estimate?

         13                 MR. SMITH: I don't have that number.

         14  Number one, I don't have that number; but number two

         15  is, the cost is not -- its effectiveness, it's what

         16  is the alternative to that cost.

         17                 If you have to employ resources to

         18  doing this and 90 percent of the crimes are

         19  occurring in our institutions that have them, why

         20  would we be better off applying those resources

         21  somewhere else? And our view is that, and I know

         22  this comes up many times about cost, security,

         23  paramount priorities, we would hope that those

         24  resources be employed in a different way, and

         25  letting the institution make the decision, but
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          2  obviously with an eye towards whatever they're doing

          3  to be comprehensive and effective.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Smith.

          6                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank all three

          8  of you for coming down here today and giving us this

          9  testimony. It will be very helpful to us. We do need

         10  to rush you along, so we apologize.

         11                 As I said, we'll be hearing from two

         12  representatives from Commerce Bank now, David

         13  Slackman, Robert Dunlop and Lawrence Sherman.

         14                 Thank you, gentlemen. If you'd please

         15  identify yourselves and what your function is at

         16  Commerce. I'm sure it has something to do with

         17  security. And then you can begin.

         18                 MR. SLACKMAN: I'm David Slackman, I'm

         19  the President of the New York City Market for

         20  Commerce Bank.

         21                 I'm joined by Robert Dunlop, who is

         22  the Chief of Security for Commerce Bank Corp, and by

         23  Dr. Lawrence Sherman, who consults with us in the

         24  area of Criminology.

         25                 Also in the audience we have our New
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          2  York City contingent of security officers who

          3  actually are retired New York City police.

          4                 I'm going to give a brief

          5  introduction about Commerce Bank, and each of these

          6  gentlemen would also like to testify and would like

          7  to have our questions after all three.

          8                 Okay, I'm David Slackman, President

          9  of the New York City Market of Commerce Bank. I've

         10  been a banker in New York City for 33 years. I

         11  joined Commerce Bank in early 2001. We really

         12  appreciate the opportunity to be here.

         13                 I'll give you some background about

         14  Commerce Bank, as I mentioned, and I've already

         15  introduced my colleagues.

         16                 Commerce Bank was founded 30 years

         17  ago in Cherry Hill, New Jersey, and it opened for

         18  business in New York City on September 21st, 2001.

         19  Since then we've opened 20 branches in three

         20  boroughs, the outer boroughs started to be opened

         21  mid this year.

         22                 In 2004 we'll open another 20, with

         23  branches in each of the City's boroughs, and our

         24  goal is to establish more than 100 branches in New

         25  York City serving every community.
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          2                 Two years ago the bank opened for

          3  business with 50 employees, almost all hired

          4  locally. We've grown the staff now to about 600, and

          5  we'll continue to be a very active and growing

          6  employer in the City.

          7                 Over 135,000 New Yorkers have

          8  selected commerce bank, depositing with us about

          9  $1.3 billion and we've made loans to consumers,

         10  businesses of all sizes, real estate developers,

         11  health care entities, and homeowners, totalling

         12  approximately 400 million.

         13                 Commerce is recognized nationally and

         14  internationally as one of the fastest growing, most

         15  innovative and customer-friendly banking companies.

         16  Our unique model offers seven-day branch banking,

         17  extensive hours of service, next day availability of

         18  funds for checks deposited, and a friendly,

         19  attractive, and inviting atmosphere.

         20                 I'm pleased to introduce to you Mr.

         21  Robert Dunlop, Director of Security for Commerce

         22  Bank, and Dr. Lawrence Sherman, an expert in

         23  criminology from the University of Pennsylvania and

         24  President of the International Society of

         25  Criminology.
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          2                 Dr. Sherman serves as a consultant to

          3  Commerce Bank.

          4                 Mr. Dunlop.

          5                 MR. DUNLOP: Good afternoon. Robert

          6  Dunlop. I'm the Director of Corporate Security and

          7  Investigations for Commerce Bank.

          8                 By way of my background, I served as

          9  a member of the New Jersey State Police for over 30

         10  years, prior to joining Commerce. My duties were

         11  concentrated on criminal investigations, including

         12  robberies and other violent crimes.

         13                 I was assigned as the Investigations

         14  Officer with overall responsibility for the

         15  supervision of all major criminal investigations

         16  conducted by the State Police.

         17                 I also held the dual role of

         18  Executive Officer and Deputy Superintendent, and was

         19  appointed Interim Superintendent of the Division of

         20  State Police by the Attorney General.

         21                 I'm honored to be here, and thank the

         22  Council for the privilege to address you as a

         23  representative of Commerce Bank.

         24                 Employee and customer safety has been

         25  Commerce Bank's top priority for 30 years. We have
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          2  designed our branches, security systems and training

          3  to best protect our customers and employees.

          4                 We are extremely proud of our safety

          5  record over these 30 years. We believe our well lit

          6  and open bank design acts as a significant robbery

          7  deterrent. In addition, our teller lines are easily

          8  visible from the street so police and pedestrians

          9  can observe unusual activity.

         10                 Our tellers are located as far away

         11  as possible from the doorways. We have installed the

         12  latest in digital video technology in all of our New

         13  York branches, especially trained Commerce employees

         14  are assigned as greeters to meet and engage everyone

         15  entering our branches. We provide extensive robbery

         16  and safety awareness training to all branch

         17  personnel. Bait money and dye packets are installed

         18  at every one of our branches.

         19                 We believe all these measures are

         20  effective robbery deterrents that keep customers and

         21  employees' safety in mind.

         22                 We support the City's efforts to

         23  reduce bank robbers. To enhance our security

         24  efforts, we have made applications at the Police

         25  Department to hire uniformed officers to replace the
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          2  private guards we presently have assigned to our

          3  high risk branches. This is what the Commissioner

          4  mentioned earlier, this is also known as the Paid

          5  Detail.

          6                 In addition, we're connected to the

          7  Crime Prevention Area Police Private Security

          8  Liaison Network E-Mail Alert Program, and we

          9  continually assess our security equipment so in the

         10  event of a robbery we can provide the best quality

         11  evidence to law enforcement.

         12                 We also have increased our training

         13  program in the New York market to ensure that all of

         14  our employees know how to react if a robbery does

         15  occur.

         16                 Recently we were complimented by a

         17  precincts commanding officer for the way our branch

         18  personnel handle the robbery situation. Commerce

         19  Bank employees' actions assisted in the quick

         20  capture of two robbery suspects. Our procedures and

         21  security devices have been instrumental in the

         22  apprehension and identification of several recent

         23  robbery suspects.

         24                 Our digital photographs of robbery

         25  suspects have appeared on the New York Police
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          2  Department's website, and I may add they were

          3  excellent quality.

          4                 All of New York City security

          5  personnel are former New York City detectives. Two

          6  of our members are former major crime squad

          7  detectives who investigated bank robberies

          8  throughout the City. Our investigators have an

          9  excellent working relationship and liaison with

         10  members of the New York Police Department.

         11                 There have been no injuries to

         12  employees or customers in our New York market, and

         13  we believe that is due to our effective security

         14  efforts and policies.

         15                 Commerce Bank will continue to work

         16  with the New York Bankers Association and New York

         17  City officials in their effort to reduce bank

         18  robberies.

         19                 We strongly support increased

         20  penalties for individuals who choose to commit bank

         21  robberies. A strong message must be sent to

         22  potential robbers that this type of crime will

         23  result in severe penalties.

         24                 Dr. Lawrence W. Sherman, Chair of

         25  Criminology and Director of Fels Institute of
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          2  Government of the University of Pennsylvania and

          3  President of the International Society of

          4  Criminology is assisting Commerce Bank with

          5  determining effective measures to deter bank

          6  robberies and protect both our customers and

          7  employees. It's my pleasure to introduce Dr.

          8  Lawrence Sherman.

          9                 MR. SHERMAN: Thank you, Mr. Dunlop.

         10  Mr. Chairman, members of the Committee, it's my

         11  great honor to come back to the place where I began

         12  my work as a criminologist 33 years ago, as a crime

         13  analyst in the New York City Police Department.

         14                 Since then I have had the chance to

         15  work with Police Departments around the US,

         16  currently working with Scotland Yard, and most of

         17  that work focuses on the issue of preventing

         18  violence, and especially injuries in the course of

         19  crimes that are potentially violent, as robbery is,

         20  but fortunately most of the time do not result in

         21  injury.

         22                 And I would like to focus my comments

         23  on this very critical question as to the safety with

         24  any security measure, and the possible paradox that

         25  the more you can protect an asset from theft, the
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          2  greater the risk might be that somebody gets hurt,

          3  because the easiest way to get the asset is to take

          4  charge of somebody's body.

          5                 I think we have the concern about car

          6  jacking, which exploded in a sort of epidemic in the

          7  early 1990s, that it may have just possibly been a

          8  result of improved difficulty in stealing cars, that

          9  the new locking systems, the marking of different

         10  parts of the automobile and so on, made it so

         11  difficult to steal a car without a driver in it,

         12  that it made it more attractive than for robbers to

         13  actually take the driver, kidnap them, kill them in

         14  many cases.

         15                 And, so, the relationship between

         16  different kinds of crimes is always something that

         17  criminologists have to think about.

         18                 There's a certain extent to which

         19  there may be a sort of balloon here, that if you

         20  squeeze it in one place, it pops up in another, and

         21  with respect to the evidence we heard this morning,

         22  I'm very impressed by the fact that although we have

         23  had an increase in robberies in New York City, which

         24  is certainly deplorable, and the trauma that victims

         25  suffer in any robbery is something that we studied
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          2  quite carefully, it's very good news that there has

          3  not been an increase in armed robbery, there has not

          4  been an increase in injury, and we do have some

          5  evidence with respect to bandit barriers that in

          6  London when they were put into post offices, that

          7  there was a big increase in armed robberies, an

          8  increase in the use of guns, in particular, and that

          9  evidence goes along with unclear effects with

         10  respect to robberies themselves.

         11                 We have a total of three studies in

         12  the literature on bandit barriers, which show, one

         13  study in the United States showed no effect across

         14  several hundred banks in the Philadelphia area,

         15  whereas the presence of guards did show an effect.

         16                 Two other studies done in Europe have

         17  unclear effects, but I think the thing that troubled

         18  me the most is what happened in London with the

         19  increase in gun crime, associated with bandit

         20  barriers not in banks but in post office operations

         21  that handled a lot of cash because that's how

         22  pensions were distributed at that time.

         23                 So, let me just conclude by saying

         24  that I think we do have good evidence from a number

         25  of studies with respect to uniformed police being an
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          2  effective robbery deterrent, and having with respect

          3  to the possible use of armed security police by the

          4  bank I'm here advising today and that is Commerce

          5  Bank having applied for paid details with respect to

          6  uniformed police.

          7                 So, to answer that very important

          8  question that was put earlier about the alternative,

          9  it seems to me that given the research evidence we

         10  have right now, although we probably need to

         11  continue to look at this because of the ongoing

         12  question of how bank robbery changes, we certainly

         13  have better evidence with respect to putting

         14  uniformed police into branches that have been robbed

         15  as opposed to bandit barriers where the evidence

         16  from other places is clearly not very strong, the

         17  evidence here, as you heard this morning, is it is

         18  already installed in places with 90 percent of the

         19  robberies.

         20                 Willie Sutton I think had a lot of

         21  logic in what he was saying, but what he can't

         22  account for is why the bank robberies are going up,

         23  going down. I think looking at other possible causes

         24  besides security makes more sense, because security

         25  didn't change very much in the past two years,
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          2  whereas robberies have skyrocketed, possibly more

          3  bank robbers getting out of prisons, possibly more

          4  homeless people residing near banks, it's hard to

          5  say what all the causes might be, but I think it's

          6  probably premature to focus on mandating procedures

          7  that don't have strong evidence and that, in fact

          8  may increase risks of injury to customers or

          9  employees.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We're ready for

         12  questions now?

         13                 Let me get to the heart of it. I

         14  happen to know personally, because Commerce opened

         15  up a branch almost next door to my office in Astoria

         16  just recently about your operation and that it's a

         17  first class operation and you do take all of these

         18  precautions that you testified about.

         19                 I believe you're probably the bank

         20  that's been alluded to by the Commissioner as

         21  someone who is refusing to put up barriers.

         22                 In addition, who can sum up for me,

         23  without going again into all the precautions you

         24  used, why you don't believe security barriers would

         25  be effective in Commerce Bank?
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          2                 MR. DUNLOP: I think, you know, the

          3  testimony that you received points to one thing.

          4  We'd like to see the evidence that bandit barriers

          5  (a) prevent robbery attempts, we have seen that so

          6  far; and that (b) they don't actually increase the

          7  potential for harm to the employees on the other

          8  side of the bandit barrier. Most of the employees in

          9  a branch do not work behind the bandit barrier, they

         10  work on this side of the bandit barrier, and the

         11  customers, certainly, are on this side of the bandit

         12  barrier. When I say this side I mean the banking

         13  floor side.

         14                 And we know of a number of instances

         15  that have occurred this year, one very prominent

         16  one, where the manager was handcuffed to a briefcase

         17  not too long ago, you may have read it in the

         18  newspaper, those were banks with bandit barriers.

         19  So, the only option for the bad guy is to go after

         20  one of the non-protected employees. So, we'd like to

         21  see evidence that supports, (a) that it prevents;

         22  and (b) that it doesn't actually cause harm.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You're right, I

         24  haven't been provided any hard evidence of that

         25  fact. I do have the testimony of the Police
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          2  Commissioner, though, at this point, that he

          3  believes that's so, and I think you're aware of the

          4  weight his testimony carries in this City, but let

          5  me first introduce Council Member Jennings who has

          6  just arrived.

          7                 Councilman, do you have a question?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: We had one

          9  of our famous colleagues who always starts out this

         10  hearing, "well, as a former police officer...", so

         11  I'll start off as a former banker.

         12                 Let me ask you, I know that the cost

         13  of these -- I forget what you call them --

         14                 MR. SHERMAN: Bandit barriers.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: These bandit

         16  barriers, I don't think that's the issue. Why don't

         17  you talk about what the real issue is in terms of

         18  customer service, why is it that you are opposed to

         19  the bandit barriers?

         20                 MR. SLACKMAN: Somebody referred to, I

         21  think Mike Smith referred to retail banking. To

         22  those of us that do what I do, this is a retail

         23  business, successful retail businesses of all types

         24  do one thing very well, they create a compelling

         25  customer experience. That customer experience is
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          2  created by the quality of the staff, it's created by

          3  the quality, of the cost of the products. In our

          4  case it's created by our penny arcades, we're the

          5  bank that counts coins for free, and all of those

          6  things, including the appearance of our locations,

          7  the brightly lit and well-designed branches and so

          8  forth. And one important part of that customer

          9  experience is the ability to relate to other human

         10  beings on a human basis and not have an artificial

         11  barrier between them.

         12                 To the extent that we don't yet

         13  understand the impact of that barrier on either

         14  preventing crime or potentially causing harm, we

         15  think that it's important to the customer experience

         16  to not have bandit barriers.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: And one of

         18  you spoke earlier about security, that you have

         19  armed guards or armed personnel in the bank

         20  currently in your branches?

         21                 MR. DUNLOP: I don't want to get into

         22  specific details of that, but I will say this, that

         23  our guards now are either active or former law

         24  enforcement officers, yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Are they
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          2  armed?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council member,

          4  we're not going to go into specifics at this point.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Okay.

          6                 Are they uniformed?

          7                 MR. DUNLOP: No, they're not.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Okay, so you

          9  have security people in the banks who are not in

         10  uniform. Do you think it would be helpful if you had

         11  people who are security who are uniformed would act

         12  as a deterrent? Because you know, I share many hats,

         13  I mean from my law enforcement experience, I mean,

         14  you know, you have a person who doesn't have a

         15  uniform, the only thing they can do is when a

         16  robbery is in progress take action in the middle of

         17  a robbery, which could cause harm to the customers

         18  and personnel, versus having someone in the bank

         19  with uniforms to prevent the crimes in the first

         20  place.

         21                 Because whether a person is armed in

         22  uniform or not armed, when a person is entering the

         23  bank they see there's a uniformed guard, there's a

         24  tendency of saying, no, maybe not this bank, let me

         25  go to another one.
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          2                 MR. DUNLOP: You're exactly right. And

          3  we have addressed this. We have put an application

          4  in to the New York City Police Department for Paid

          5  Detail. We want to put a New York City officer in

          6  our branches, and we're waiting for that application

          7  to be approved.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: In the

          9  interim, do you have security, uniformed security

         10  guards in any of your branches?

         11                 MR. DUNLOP: We do have security

         12  firms, like I said, right now we have them in a soft

         13  blazer, we will consider putting them in uniform.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: But no one

         15  is uniformed?

         16                 MR. DUNLOP: That's right. Not to my

         17  knowledge.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Okay, thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         21  Council Member.

         22                 Let me reiterate, please answer as

         23  much as you can but if you do feel it compromises

         24  some sort of security, feel free to refrain.

         25                 Council Member Koppell.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

          3                 You made reference to the European

          4  studies, I think you did. If I'm not mistaken, you

          5  said that they dissuaded you, or you used some

          6  phrase that this really impressed you; is that

          7  correct? Those studies impressed you as reasons why

          8  we shouldn't have the bandit barriers? The European

          9  studies?

         10                 MR. SHERMAN: I was just concerned

         11  about the increase in gun crime in London, the

         12  company, the installation of the bandit barriers.

         13  The more basic point is that the Surgeon General

         14  standards of two independent studies, showing that a

         15  crime prevention strategy is safe and effective, has

         16  not been met in this case. I think that's my

         17  fundamental concern.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, the two

         19  European studies both showed a reduction in the

         20  number of robberies, correct?

         21                 MR. SHERMAN: But they're contradicted

         22  by the Philadelphia study, and therefore it doesn't

         23  meet the Surgeon General standard. It's not an

         24  uncontradicted body of evidence.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I don't know
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          2  whether we go by the Surgeon General's evaluation.

          3  This is of bank robberies, or is it of drugs, the

          4  Surgeon General?

          5                 MR. SHERMAN: The Surgeon General has

          6  taken violence as a public health problem, injury

          7  which gets treated in hospitals, it has been within

          8  the purview of the Surgeon General for some time

          9  now, and in 2001 the Surgeon General issued a report

         10  on youth violence that adopted the standard which

         11  the earlier Attorney Generals report in 1997, had

         12  also taken about two independent studies not

         13  contradicted by other bodies of evidence. And with

         14  respect to the Philadelphia study showing no

         15  reduction in robbery, the London study showing an

         16  increase in armed robbery and a potential for

         17  injury, the strongest evidence comes from

         18  Switzerland which has a totally different gun crime

         19  environment, and where the risks of harm in relation

         20  to the bandit barriers might in fact be

         21  substantially lower than it is here. I think the

         22  fact that we have had some people wrestled to the

         23  ground, from what we understand, in banks with

         24  bandit barriers, as a way of getting the bank

         25  teller's attention and trying to get the teller to
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          2  give up some money, is an example of the kind of

          3  thing that has happened here in New York that could

          4  happen on a wider scale over time, and that the

          5  question really remains unanswered about whether

          6  it's increasing the risk the way that the auto theft

          7  prevention might have done for car jacking.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, the Swiss

          9  study supports the decrease by putting in the

         10  barriers?

         11                 MR. SHERMAN: That was the conclusion

         12  of that particular study, yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Why do you

         14  think there's such equivocal evidence, as you

         15  suggest in your study, although I must say I think

         16  your analogy to the Thalidomide is a little forced,

         17  but leave it go, if there's so little evidence that

         18  these things make a difference, why do you think

         19  that 90 percent of the banks have them?

         20                 MR. SHERMAN: Well, I think that

         21  explaining why certain security measures arise at

         22  different points in time is not something that

         23  criminology has spent a lot of time looking at,

         24  because the more important question is what works

         25  and what doesn't, and we found a lot of things that
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          2  are very popular turn out to be ineffectively,

          3  Scared Straight being a very prime example, and the

          4  key question comes back to in medicine or in any

          5  other field, when you actually test the strategy

          6  using rigorous methods, what results do you get?

          7                 And I don't see that we know through

          8  rigorous methods yet whether there's an increase in

          9  risk of injury, and that is something that because

         10  of the anecdotal reports, because of the concern

         11  about gun crime rising in London, would be something

         12  that I would expect everybody in this room would

         13  certainly be interested in knowing.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I would

         15  like to see the three studies. We could probably get

         16  them, but if you have them handy, if you could give

         17  us copies of them, we'd like to take a look. These

         18  three studies --

         19                 MR. SHERMAN: I don't have them here

         20  with me today.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, no, not

         22  today.

         23                 But I mean, we can try to pull them

         24  out. One of them looks like it may be hard to get,

         25  so if you have them, we'd appreciate taking a look
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          2  at them.

          3                 But I am a little puzzled why so many

          4  banks put these in. Frankly, I'm concerned that you

          5  are getting some commercial advantage from not

          6  putting them in.

          7                 Your bank has been cited as a bank

          8  that has been subject to an extraordinary number of

          9  robberies, as I recalled it in the survey done by

         10  the press; is that so?

         11                 MR. SLACKMAN: I'd like to clarify

         12  that, now that you mention it. We were cited as

         13  being the bank that had the largest number of

         14  robberies per branch.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

         16                 MR. SLACKMAN: And that was in, after

         17  the end of the first quarter of this year, and if

         18  memory serves, we had 13 robberies in 11 branches.

         19  I think those are the right numbers because we did

         20  have 11 branches, which was a one-to-one ratio,

         21  which was the worst ratio in the City.

         22                 You can make statistics say anything

         23  you want statistics to say, almost. The banks in

         24  that list, the other banks in New York City, we're

         25  the new guy, one of the new guys in town, all of our
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          2  branches were in Manhattan, between 94th Street and

          3  Greenwich Village, which is the place that got

          4  robbed the most, so the list included banks that had

          5  branches throughout the City, including a bank that

          6  only had branches in Staten Island, which didn't

          7  have any robberies.

          8                 So, yes, on that list we were the top

          9  with 13 robberies out of 147 bank robberies on I

         10  guess the State Bankers Association survey that

         11  occurred in the first quarter. And to take the

         12  numbers back in time, State Bankers' numbers were

         13  147, of which 130 were at banks with bandit

         14  barriers. So, you know, that's what the statistics

         15  say. You know, one could interpret that as meaning

         16  we were the most robbed bank. I don't think so.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I

         18  appreciate your responding, nonetheless it's still

         19  troublesome, the number of robberies and the number

         20  of branches.

         21                 MR. SLACKMAN: Oh, and I don't mean to

         22  minimize, however, in any way our concern and our

         23  dismay and very unhappiness, if that's a word, with

         24  the bank robberies. And I happen to agree with you,

         25  I know every one of the employees who was on the
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          2  other side of that counter who was robbed, I've been

          3  robbed on the other side of that counter, it's a

          4  horrible experience. It's much worse than the impact

          5  of both financial loss or anything like that.

          6  Completely agree with you. I think I would feel much

          7  worse if an employee on the other side of that

          8  bandit barrier were grabbed and had a gun put to her

          9  head and said, and then the teller put in the

         10  position of give me the money or I blow this

         11  person's brains out.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I'd

         13  feel badly about that, too, but obviously I put the

         14  bill in because I believe it is, number one, a

         15  comfort to those people who are behind the bandit

         16  barriers, and also I believe a deterrence at least

         17  to the armed robber.

         18                 Now, maybe because it seems so

         19  simple, you just put in a thing and say I have an

         20  "Amtrak" and you get money, that people are doing

         21  it. But an armed robber I think takes substantially

         22  additional risks if he goes around the branch

         23  putting the gun at someone, rather than quietly

         24  going up to the teller and pointing the gun at her

         25  or him.
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          2                 Anyway, that's why I put in the bill.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          4  Council member.

          5                 Let me now say I appreciate your

          6  support, I believe for the effort that we're going

          7  to make to increase the level of crime in Albany,

          8  put a specific crime for bank robber and make it a C

          9  felony, as opposed to a D; I believe you did support

         10  that in your testimony?

         11                 MR. SLACKMAN: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, thank you.

         13  And I was going to ask Council Member Koppell's

         14  question about the reported rash of bank robberies

         15  at your branch, because I knew that there were

         16  reasons behind it, but let me ask you, since that

         17  time, you testified as to what's in place now, have

         18  you made changes since that time, and do you intend

         19  to make any more?

         20                 MR. DUNLOP: Yes, we've been making

         21  changes, and we continually assess our security

         22  efforts.

         23                 Am I close enough? Can you hear?

         24                 Although we use digital recorders, we

         25  are constantly trying to upgrade them with new
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          2  versions to get even clearer photographs of robbery

          3  suspects. We are constantly retraining our greeters.

          4  We think that it's very important when someone comes

          5  into the bank, and Councilman Jennings, this may go

          6  to the question you asked, is that we come up there

          7  and we greet them and we engage them. These people

          8  that commit these bank robberies, whether they're

          9  note passers or armed robbers, they don't want

         10  people to see their faces. We actually go up, we

         11  introduce them, we say hello to them, we want to

         12  engage them.

         13                 We don't know how many robberies have

         14  been deterred simply because someone goes up and

         15  greets someone that may be considering robbing a

         16  bank. So, there's a lot of things that we're doing

         17  proactively to try to prevent it. I don't want

         18  anyone to think that Commerce Bank has snuffed the

         19  best practices. We've implemented almost every

         20  single best practices that there are, with the

         21  exception of bandit barriers. And I think by putting

         22  -- I'm sorry, sir -- I think we've gone a step

         23  further than most banks, because we are hoping to

         24  get approval on our application for the Paid Detail

         25  and have uniformed New York City police officers in
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          2  our branches.

          3                 MR. SLACKMAN: I'd just like to add

          4  that since July 1st, and Bob, correct me if I'm

          5  wrong, we have had two robberies.

          6                 MR. DUNLOP: July 31st.

          7                 MR. SLACKMAN: July 31st, we have had

          8  two robberies --

          9                 MR. DUNLOP: One robbery.

         10                 MR. SLACKMAN: One robbery since July

         11  31st. That was just the other night, it was reported

         12  in the papers, and in this instance our employee --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It's not going

         14  on right now, like the other one?

         15                 MR. SLACKMAN: Excuse me? No, it's not

         16  going on right now, thank goodness.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Another one of

         18  Oliver Koppell's staff members out getting press for

         19  the hearing.

         20                 MR. SLACKMAN: There you go.

         21                 In this case, as in others, the

         22  employee gave out the dye pack, the robber was a

         23  woman and the dye pack exploded inside of a taxicab

         24  and a passing New York City traffic patrol

         25  apprehended the robber.
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          2                 So, you know, that was the only case

          3  that we had and that was just last week.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And that

          5  obviously is a decrease in the amount from six

          6  months ago.

          7                 MR. SLACKMAN: Correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. Again, we

          9  do need to be out by 1:00, so we appreciate the

         10  three of you gentlemen coming down, that your

         11  information will be very helpful to us, and feel

         12  free to contact us.

         13                 We will be getting information about

         14  what you said about how certain banks have complied

         15  with whatever percentage of these recommendations in

         16  certain, so we appreciate the fact that you've done

         17  almost all of them.

         18                 MR. SLACKMAN: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The next and

         20  last panel will consist of three people who have

         21  security experience in this area. Dr. Mark Lerner,

         22  President of Epic Security; Joseph Randazza; and

         23  Julie Kelley.

         24                 Thank you. And why don't we start

         25  left to right. Ms. Kelley, you introduce yourself
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          2  and who you represent and then begin with whatever

          3  you prepared.

          4                 MS. KELLEY: Hi. I'm Julie Kelley. My

          5  New York company represents security products of

          6  Homeland Security Consultants, Incorporated, and we

          7  manufacture, distribute and install the

          8  bullet-resistant glass, so hopefully I can answer

          9  some questions regarding that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, we'll have

         11  questions when everybody is done. I guess, Mr.

         12  Randazza, you're in the middle, you're next. That's

         13  you? I should know you actually. Apparently we have

         14  someone in common that we know.

         15                 Well, why don't we go with you since

         16  I have your statement in front of me, but I will

         17  need you to sum this up.

         18                 MR. RANDAZZA: I understand.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: There's no way

         20  we'll get through five single-spaced pages.

         21                 MR. RANDAZZA: I understand.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thanks. Okay.

         23                 MR. RANDAZZA: For the last 24 years,

         24  my company and our affiliates have been responsible

         25  for selling an interlocking door system, which
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          2  virtually has eliminated bank robberies in Europe.

          3  Italy has mandated interlocking door systems.

          4  Essentially the difference between what has been

          5  proposed today and our solution is that security

          6  starts at the front door. We're proposing, and this

          7  is getting right to the chase, we're proposing that

          8  bandit barriers certainly are effective, but they

          9  don't prevent hostage situations.

         10                 CCTV, even with digital imaging, is

         11  effective. But when individuals come into a branch

         12  with a disguise, it dilutes the efforts of CCTV.

         13                 What we're proposing is what we've

         14  now installed in Italy, in 500 branches. It's a

         15  system when you enter the bank there is an

         16  interlocking door system, which is a two-door system

         17  with a public side and an security side that 500

         18  people are now able to go ahead and enter, that when

         19  you go in we use the science of biometrics to

         20  prevent bank robberies.

         21                 Someone comes in, their picture is

         22  taken. If they have a disguise, facial recognition

         23  won't allow the door to open for them to enter the

         24  bank, okay? And we go ahead and use fingerprint

         25  technology, where you go ahead and put your finger
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          2  down and it captures your image.

          3                 There is signage inside the portal

          4  and video, and an audio message that states that

          5  this is used strictly for law enforcement purposes

          6  and that it's every 24 hours that the database is in

          7  fact deleted, and we have a avionic type of black

          8  box that only law enforcement would have access to

          9  in the event of a crime.

         10                 Our proposal, if proven in Italy,

         11  there are 70,000 interlocking door systems that have

         12  been deployed in the last 24 years, 1,000

         13  interlocking door systems for banks in the United

         14  States.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It sounds like a

         16  James Bond movie, you walk through one door, you

         17  stand there, cameras go off, the computer says you

         18  can get in, you can't get in. You put your hand in,

         19  get a hand recognition and you go to the bank?

         20                 MR. RANDAZZA: It's an eight-second

         21  process, and even though it sounds like a big

         22  brother approach, candidly we're mirroring exactly

         23  what banks do today.

         24                 Many of the branches here in the City

         25  require you to put your fingerprint down when you go
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          2  ahead and you're not a member of the bank and you

          3  want to cash a check, they have an ink pad right at

          4  the desk. So, we're capturing a fingerprint, but

          5  it's not being used by anyone other than law

          6  enforcement in the event of a robbery.

          7                 Pictures that have been taken for

          8  years through CCTV cameras, once again, it is not

          9  James Bond-ish when you walk in, it just takes your

         10  picture, you put down your fingerprint, you enter

         11  the bank - eight seconds. And quite candidly, even a

         12  sophisticated or unsophisticated robber looks at

         13  this as a bank job. They're working. These people do

         14  not want to be caught, they do not want to go to

         15  jail, and candidly who is going to rob the bank when

         16  you've captured their picture, because they can't

         17  get in with a disguise, and you have their

         18  fingerprint for law enforcement purposes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Your fingerprint

         20  is kept on file for 24 hours?

         21                 MR. RANDAZZA: Strictly for 24 hours.

         22  Only accessed by law enforcement in the event of a

         23  robbery.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And it's not run

         25  as they're walking in for warrants or anything like
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          2  that?

          3                 MR. RANDAZZA: No, it's not.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Just in case

          5  there's a robbery.

          6                 MR. RANDAZZA: It's stored in an

          7  avionic type of black box.

          8                 And candidly, the deployment of these

          9  systems are much less than the cost of putting

         10  bandit barriers within a branch.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, thank you.

         12                 Dr. Lerner.

         13                 DR. LERNER: Mr. Chairman, members of

         14  the Committee, I'm Mark Lerner, CEO and President of

         15  Epic Security Corporation, the major provider of

         16  uniformed security guards in the City of New York.

         17                 I'm a PhD criminologist, from the

         18  City University of New York Graduate Center. I've

         19  served in various government positions, including

         20  Professor of Criminology at John Jay College of

         21  Criminal Justice, and I served as an assistant to

         22  the Chairman of the New York State Board of Parole,

         23  and the Director of Research for the New York State

         24  Board of Parole.

         25                 From New York City, unlike others
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          2  here from New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Europe, I think

          3  I've lived in New York City my whole life and I'm

          4  very familiar with security problems here in New

          5  York.

          6                 In New York City all our police

          7  officers are armed with handguns, but during the

          8  typical 20-year career of a New York City Police

          9  Officer, only a small fraction will ever need to

         10  fire that weapon to prevent or stop a crime. But we

         11  still know that it's imperative for our police to

         12  carry these guns just in case.

         13                 It's really the same concept for our

         14  bank security. We need certain minimum safety

         15  measures just in case.

         16                 Most of the bank branches in New York

         17  City will not be robbed this year. Only one in a

         18  million bank customers is a bank robber. Yet, we

         19  still need security just in case.

         20                 Based on my experience, I'll mention

         21  briefly three areas that we need to direct our

         22  concerns. First, is Lexan Cheating (phonetic),

         23  commonly referred to as "bandit barriers" in this

         24  hearing.

         25                 The most important reason for Lexan
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          2  is the protection of the bank's employees. Most

          3  tellers want Lexan to feel safe at their jobs. They

          4  won't just feel safe, they will be much safer, as

          5  Lexan reduces assault against bank tellers to

          6  virtually nil.

          7                 Some bankers want to avoid installing

          8  Lexan because they feel it makes the bank appear

          9  less friendly and welcoming. Some want to emulate

         10  the fast food model, only now fast banking.

         11                 Of course, the actual trend is just

         12  the reverse of this model, with many fast food and

         13  other retail locations here in New York, other than

         14  banking now installing Lexan to protect their cash

         15  handling employers.

         16                 Secondly, closed circuit TV.

         17  Virtually everybody knows that your picture is being

         18  taken when you're at the bank. Then why do some

         19  people rob banks anyway?

         20                 It turns out that cameras are not

         21  much of a deterrent to the average bank robber. Most

         22  just put it out of their sorts, they feel that they

         23  won't be recognized anyway. Some employ amateurish

         24  disguises.

         25                 The real value of closed circuit TV
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          2  is helping the police solve the crime, not in

          3  preventing it in the first place.

          4                 Of course, since bank robbery is

          5  usually a serial crime, solving the case and

          6  incarcerating the perpetrator will have the effect

          7  of reducing the current robbery epidemic.

          8                 That's why it makes sense to upgrade

          9  the banks closed circuit TV to modern digital

         10  standards. That means using digital color cameras,

         11  recording onto digital hard drive vices, connected

         12  to the banks local area network.

         13                 This will dramatically aid the police

         14  in their identification apprehension of their bank

         15  robbers.

         16                 And thirdly, uniformed security

         17  guards. There is probably no better method to

         18  immediately reduce robberies in any bank branch than

         19  the placement of invisible uniformed guard on the

         20  public banking floor, and that already effective

         21  deterrent will be substantially enhanced if that

         22  guard is armed.

         23                 We know this from bank robbery

         24  statistics and interviews with captured bank

         25  robbers. The robbers consistently say they avoid any
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          2  bank with a uniformed guard, especially an armed

          3  guard. Why then don't we see uniformed guards in

          4  most bank branches? Doesn't it seem we used to see

          5  them but not anymore?

          6                 The reason is cost. The amount of

          7  cost to employ guards is up. The amount stolen in

          8  the average bank robbery is down. Banks have done

          9  the math.

         10                 It is often cheaper to lose money in

         11  a robbery than to invest in security. Of course, we

         12  have to ask if this math makes sense.

         13                 Maybe we shouldn't be looking at the

         14  resources in the response to an investigation of

         15  these robberies, and perhaps average $1,700 cash,

         16  taking the typical bank robbery, as the cost of that

         17  robbery. The real cost to society is the burden on

         18  police resources in the response to an investigation

         19  of these robberies.

         20                 And perhaps the greatest cost is that

         21  so hard to quantify reduction in the safety and

         22  trust we all suffer, when we must worry about our

         23  personal safety when visiting a neighborhood bank

         24  just around the corner.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me just give

          3  you a chance to respond to what Commerce said. They

          4  said that by installing these barriers, that they're

          5  increasing the risk of injury and danger to the

          6  people outside the barrier and the employees outside

          7  the barrier; what do you say to that?

          8                 DR. LERNER: The number of cases of

          9  people being taken hostage and held as a threat to

         10  someone behind the barrier is minuscule. I can't

         11  think of any cases in recent years that have

         12  occurred in the City of New York.

         13                 Anyone anywhere could be taken

         14  hostage and held for ransom or immediate cash

         15  gratification. I see no reason to believe that

         16  someone is going to enter a bank with that, you

         17  know, modus operandi, it doesn't make much sense to

         18  me.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, thank you.

         20                 Mr. Randazza, I know you flew in from

         21  Florida for this. I thank you.

         22                 Council Member Jennings.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: I have a

         24  couple of questions. Under device here it says

         25  fingerprints. I mean, we in New York State for many
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          2  other social benefits have tried to implement

          3  fingerprinting and it's still resistant. Many people

          4  in the public don't want big brother watching them

          5  to put their fingerprints in a device or if they're

          6  applying for whatever services; can this machine be

          7  operated without fingerprint device?

          8                 MR. RANDAZZA: Yes. Once again, if you

          9  operate from the premise that you bring security to

         10  the front door, and if you go ahead and you

         11  eliminate the ability of someone to get in with a

         12  disguise because of the facial recognition, then you

         13  go ahead and use the fingerprint device to be able

         14  to go ahead and use it for law enforcement purposes.

         15                 The answer to your question is the

         16  device can be used without fingerprints. It can be

         17  used strictly with metal detection which has its own

         18  areas of concern, okay? Or it can be used with

         19  facial recognition to prevent people from going in

         20  with masks. But the purpose of, the purpose of this

         21  device, and, once again, there are over 70,000

         22  interlocking door systems in banks today in the

         23  world today with over a million people a day going

         24  through banks, the purpose of this device is who is

         25  going to rob the bank when you have their picture
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          2  and you got their fingerprints.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: I understand

          4  that, but if you use the facial recognition without

          5  the fingerprints, this can be done.

          6                 MR. RANDAZZA: Yes, you can do that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: This can be

          8  done, okay.

          9                 Secondly, when exiting the bank, can

         10  you explain to me how the device works when you're

         11  exiting?

         12                 MR. RANDAZZA: You simply exit. There

         13  is no verification. If you were using metal

         14  detection or facial recognition or fingerprints, you

         15  just simply exit.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Well, what's

         17  to prevent someone from coming in and out at the

         18  same time?

         19                 MR. RANDAZZA: Okay. Thank you for

         20  asking that question.

         21                 The system is an interlocking door

         22  system, only one person is able to enter at a time.

         23  We use sophisticated technology in terms of

         24  electrostatin sonar (phonetic) to prevent what's

         25  called anti-piggybacking, two people entering at one
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          2  time, but it's sophisticated enough where a mother

          3  can bring her child, or you can carry a baby. So,

          4  this system only allows entry of one person at a

          5  time.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Entering and

          7  exiting, so the person has to go in, close the door

          8  behind them, and before the other door opens up?

          9                 MR. RANDAZZA: That's right. Exiting

         10  more than one person can leave at a time.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: More than

         12  one person can leave at a time, but while the doors

         13  open, can someone pass through and go in?

         14                 MR. RANDAZZA: No. And once again --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: It's a two

         16  door?

         17                 MR. RANDAZZA: That's right, it's a

         18  two-door system.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: You've got

         20  to go into the booth, the door has got to close

         21  behind you, another door opens up?

         22                 MR. RANDAZZA: That is correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Okay.

         24                 What happens when there's a fire; how

         25  do you get out?
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          2                 MR. RANDAZZA: Okay. In case of fire

          3  both doors, or in case of a robbery, both doors open

          4  up simultaneously through an alarm system. There's a

          5  two-hour battery back-up system. There's a two-hour

          6  battery back-up system for continuous use in case of

          7  a power blackout, and there's a mechanical handle

          8  inside the portal --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Well, how do

         10  they know to open up when there is a fire? How does

         11  it know to open up when there's a fire?

         12                 MR. RANDAZZA: It's attached to the

         13  fire alarm system.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: So the fire

         15  alarm has to go off first?

         16                 MR. RANDAZZA: The fire alarm would

         17  have to go off first; that's correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: And once the

         19  fire alarm goes off, then all the doors open up?

         20                 MR. RANDAZZA: That's correct.

         21                 Or it can be configured, if the

         22  burglar alarm went off, that would also be able to

         23  be the case.

         24                 These doors, this is not a new

         25  application. These doors, currently in the United
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          2  States today there's over a million people entering

          3  devices like this for access control.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: The same

          5  thing, law enforcement responding to a robbery but

          6  an alarm doesn't go off. Police officer, passers-by,

          7  notice someone going in the bank, two officers can't

          8  get into the bank the same time, they have to go

          9  through the door one at a time to get in?

         10                 MR. RANDAZZA: The answer is the way

         11  to originally set up, that's correct, okay? There

         12  can be by-passes in the system. The system can be

         13  opened automatically inside the bank. In other

         14  words, when there's a panic button, when there's a

         15  panic button situation, the doors can be by-passed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: But if there

         17  was no panic button set off, there is a robbery in

         18  progress, and I'm a uniformed officer, four guys

         19  passing by sees a robbery in progress, we want to

         20  enter the bank, we can't get in, right? One of us at

         21  a time go in.

         22                 MR. RANDAZZA: Right. One person at a

         23  time. But generally --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: That might

         25  be an incumbrance to, you know, who is going to

                                                            123

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  answer first, and instead of, yes, you are going to

          3  enter the same time?

          4                 MR. RANDAZZA: Once again, every

          5  system has, and you're raising a very valid point,

          6  every system has a positive and a negative. Bandit

          7  barriers put hostage situations in play in terms of

          8  the people in the lobby and people in terms of

          9  employees, okay? So, if you're asking me would I

         10  rather go ahead and protect the entire branch from

         11  the front door in, versus the teller cage and the

         12  money?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Okay. All

         14  right, thank you.

         15                 MR. RANDAZZA: Thank you very much.

         16                 MR. KELLEY: Can I --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Sure. I just

         18  want to say Council Member Jennings has a

         19  state-of-the-art office, so he might be actually

         20  putting one in there in Jamaica.

         21                 Ms. Kelley.

         22                 MS. KELLEY: No, I just wanted to say

         23  that I'm familiar with these interlocking doors, but

         24  I don't know if you're referring to the same thing,

         25  but they have one, which it's fairly simple, that it
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          2  can be activated from inside and the bank robber

          3  actually is trapped, and the glass is bullet

          4  resistant so that the gentleman cannot get out, and

          5  that can be activated from inside.

          6                 MR. RANDAZZA: These can be entrapment

          7  devices. It all depends on the way that the banks

          8  would specify and the legislation that would be

          9  behind it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         11                 The last question, we'll be

         12  introducing a bill which will increase the level of

         13  penalties of bank robbery, calling on Albany to do

         14  that; would the three of you have a position on

         15  that? Would you favor that or be against that?

         16                 MS. KELLEY: No, I definitely favor

         17  this, and I can comment, let's say regarding the

         18  Commerce Bank.  First of all, the bullet-resistant

         19  glass has become much more technologically advanced,

         20  and that, number one, for its looks, weight, and you

         21  can install this glass and it's not looking in any

         22  bad way at the bank, not looking -- and then,

         23  secondly, I don't understand if when a bank robber

         24  comes in, first of all he's probably acting erratic

         25  anyway and they think that taking the chance without
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          2  this glass in front of the teller is correct, I just

          3  don't see why, because even if they hand a note and

          4  then something happens, they could tend to pull

          5  their gun because obviously they're not all right

          6  anyway when they first walk in the bank. So, to me,

          7  putting this glass partition prevents, as we were

          8  all talking before, versus waiting til it happens.

          9  And like I said, they've come up with so many light

         10  -- it's less expensive now, it can be put not only

         11  at the tellers, it can be put even like they were

         12  saying in the customer service areas and partitions,

         13  many different ways to utilize these products. And

         14  just starting with the bank tellers is great, a

         15  great thing, why risk something?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Dr. Lerner, on

         17  the increase in penalties?

         18                 DR. LERNER: Yes, I'll comment on the

         19  proposal to change the felony level of bank robbers.

         20                 I can tell you from my experience

         21  that as Director of Research for New York State

         22  Division of Parole that in my opinion, surely the

         23  most effective way you can reduce bank robberies in

         24  the City of New York is to have more jail space for

         25  bank robbers.
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          2                 Just increasing the felony level may

          3  not accomplish that, because the State Prison,

          4  although greatly expanded during the eighties and

          5  nineties, are not being expanded currently and of

          6  course --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: All right, well

          8  that would be an argument against increasing every

          9  level of crime. But if we had prison space, you'd be

         10  in favor of that?

         11                 DR. LERNER: Well, if you could

         12  increase the time you can keep bank robbers in

         13  prison, that will greatly reduce, that will be the

         14  most effective way of reducing bank robberies.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, I agree

         16  100 percent.

         17                 Mr. Randazza.

         18                 MR. RANDAZZA: I fully agree that

         19  increasing the penalty will stop bank robberies.

         20                 In my opinion, the reason why the

         21  robberies are on the rise is simply because people

         22  don't fear the consequences.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         24                 Council Member Koppell.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: To the
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          2  Professor, you heard the testimony which was very

          3  inventive comparing the statistics with Thalidomide

          4  and so on and so on, there's no real evidence that

          5  these barriers, bandit barriers will deter bank

          6  robberies or protect people in the banks; what's

          7  your reaction to that alleged production of

          8  evidentiary evidence?

          9                 DR. LERNER: My opinion, that goes

         10  beyond common sense. The assaults against bank

         11  employees, which I believe will be the primary

         12  benefit of the bandit barriers, will be virtually

         13  nil, will be no injuries to bank employees. If you

         14  have Lexan sheets, it's hard.  Comparing, in all due

         15  respect to my colleagues, comparing America to

         16  Europe or studies of London or even Pennsylvania and

         17  New Jersey that the Commerce Bank officials seem to

         18  be oriented to, a lot of things are different here

         19  in New York, and in Europe we have other places of

         20  the world, people standing in the banks with

         21  automatic machine guns and all sorts of other

         22  methods that we wouldn't think of here in New York.

         23  I think we have to think of the here and now in New

         24  York, what worked here and the Lexan is a proven

         25  deterrent that will make the bank employees feel
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          2  safe, they will be safe, and I think most of the

          3  public wants it and the public will feel safer going

          4  into a bank that has the Lexan sheets.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: If you read

          6  his statement carefully, in Europe, both in

          7  Switzerland and England, the number of bank

          8  robberies went down after they introduced it. Now,

          9  he said in England the number of armed robberies

         10  went up. That's interesting. One interesting thing

         11  in England is, and I don't know if it has anything

         12  to do with banks, that all of a sudden the criminals

         13  are carrying guns, which 20 years ago they didn't,

         14  and now English bobbies (phonetic), which they never

         15  used to be. So, I don't know how that cuts one way

         16  or the other, but the interesting thing is, even

         17  though he brought up those two studies, the studies

         18  both indicated that the number of bank robberies

         19  went down.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         21  Council member.

         22                 I thank the three of you for coming

         23  from New York City and everywhere else to testify

         24  today. Your information will be very helpful.

         25                 She just wanted to ask some
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          2  questions, right?

          3                 MS. KELLEY: Oh, no, no, no, I

          4  commented on the door, because like I said, that

          5  interlocking facial, I just agree with the proposal.

          6  Like I say, the bullet-resistant glass, like he

          7  knows as well, why not put it there if it's going to

          8  protect everybody, and like I say, with technology,

          9  it's not so bulky, heavy, you know, speaking on an

         10  installation or looks wise, that -- I mean, 'cause

         11  that's what we do, we supply and install it, I mean,

         12  even the cost-wise has come way down, and banks

         13  should just do it automatically.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I didn't skip

         15  her originally, she just said she wanted to respond

         16  to questions.

         17                 DR. LERNER: Can I make a brief

         18  comment on Commerce Bank, a statement they said?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Briefly.

         20                 DR. LERNER: They have greeters at the

         21  doors to deter robberies. The greeters at their

         22  doors have baskets of candy, and if anyone is in a

         23  Commerce Bank, if you believe the greeters in

         24  Commerce Bank are similar to uniformed security

         25  guards, I find that difficult to believe that that
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          2  will deter robberies from that model.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: But you can get

          4  candy.

          5                 DR. LERNER: It would be good to the

          6  dental industry probably.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. Take

          8  care everyone. Thank you.

          9                 The hearing is now over.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 1:00 p.m.)

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            131

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 14th day of October 2003.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

                                                            132

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

